

[__

}. {_____

{

{ [_____

{

R

Ĺ

Environmental Engineering

Technical Report

Correlation Between Traditional Stability Parameters of Compost To Turfgrass Toxicity Effects July, 1995

> Beatriz Cárdenas Research Assistant

Michael S. Switzenbaum Professor of Civil and Environmental Engineering

Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering University of Massachusetts at Amherst **Technical Report**

Correlation Between Traditional Stability Parameters of Compost To Turfgrass Toxicity Effects July, 1995

> Beatriz Cárdenas Research Assistant

Michael S. Switzenbaum Professor of Civil and Environmental Engineering

.

July, 1995

Technical Report

Correlation Between Traditional Stability Parameters of Compost To Turfgrass Toxicity Effects

R&D# 91-08

by

Beatriz Cárdenas Research Assistant

Michael S. Switzenbaum Professor of Civil and Environmental Engineering

Environmental Engineering Program Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering University of Massachusetts Amherst, MA 01003

Submitted to the

Commonwealth of Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection David B. Struhs, Commissioner

Bureau of Resource Protection Arlene O'Donnell, Assistant Commissioner

> Office of Watershed Management Andrew Gottlieb, Director

> > i

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank Professor Gail L. Schumann and Ms. Bess Dicklow of the Department of Plant Pathology of the University of Massachusetts who performed the turfgrass phytotoxicty testing and statistical analysis; Arnold Voehringer of the Holyoke composting facility, George Heisler of the Hoosac Water Quality District composting facility, for their help during the sampling; and Chris Holden and Hugo Soares of the Environmental Engineering Program for their help in the lab. Partial support for Ms. Cárdenas was obtained from the Fullbright-CONACyT program for which the authors are grateful. We are also grateful to the Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection (R&D 91-08) for funding this research.

¢

Abstract

Samples from two different sludge composting systems (an in-vessel system and an aerated static pile) were studied throughout the first 20-30 days of the process. Determination of stability parameters and phytotoxic effects on seeds and established turfgrass was performed. Traditional stability parameters measured included: water extract analyses, as C/N ratio, total organic carbon, ammonia; pH, temperature, total and volatile solids, oxygen uptake rate; and pathogen indicator densities and regrowth potential. Overall, these parameters showed final compost from these systems can not be considered stable after the first stage of the process. Sampling methodology was found to be very important in obtaining representative samples. Seedling studies tested effects of compost on different parameters including delay in germination, growth yield, percentage of germination, and percentage of ground cover. These studies showed that compost from both systems produced toxic effects on seeds, but severity of phytotoxicity was correlated with neither the compost age nor the type of composting system. Different sensitiveness to compost's effects were observed in the species tested, as tall fescue was significantly less affected, followed by creeping bentgrass seeds. Phytotoxicity on kentucky bluegrass seeds was significantly more severe than the others species. The established turfgrass study consisted of the application of final in-vessel compost on an established golf course (kentucky bluegrass). Results confirmed similar observations by Schumann et $al_{(42)}$ finding no phytotoxic effects at an application rate of 200 lb/1000 ft². In addition, we observed that compost application as high as 500 lb/1000ft² also showed no phytotoxicity and in fact had a positive effect on turfgrass quality (determined as growth, and color). Further studies are suggested since the traditional stability parameters may not be able to predict actual effects of sludge compost on established turfgrass. This is of significant importance since the turfgrass industry is an important potential market for sludge compost.

iii

Table of Contents

,

.

Acknowledments	ii
Abstract	iii
Table of Contents	iv
List of Figures	viii
List of Tables	• ix
Table of Abbreviations	x

1. Introduction	1
1.1 Purpose of Study	1
1.2 Objectives	3
1.2.1 Main objective	3
1.2.2 Specific objectives	3
2. Background	4
2.1 Municipal Sewage Sludge	4
2.2 Beneficial Use of Sludge Treatment Alternatives.	6
2.2.1 Thermal drying	6
2.2.2 Chemical fixation	7
2.2.3 Composting	7
2.3 Composting Generalities	9
2.3.1 Composting processes	و9

2.3.2 Level of sludge composting	9
2.3.3 Composting systems	12
2.3.3.1 Windrow systems	12
2.3.3.2 Aerated static piles	14
2.3.3.3 In-vessel	16
2.3.4 Marketability	
2.3.5 Compost quality	19
2.3.6 Phytotoxicity	20
2.3.7 Compost stability and compost maturity	22
2.3.8 Stability and maturity parameters	23
2.3.8.1 Analysis on solid compost	26
2.3.8.2 Analyses on water extract	28
2.3.8.3 Auxiliary parameters	29
2.3.8.4 Plant bioassays	31
3. Experimental Methodology	33
3.1 General Methodology	33
3.2 Description of Facilities	34
3.2.1 Holyoke facility	34
3.2.2 Hoosac composting facility	36
3.3 Sample Collection and Processing	37
3.3.1 Holyoke composting facility	37
3.3.2 Hoosac composting facility	37
3.4 Sample Analyses	42
3.4.1 Stability analyses	42
3.4.1.1 Analyses on solid phase	42
3.4.1.1.1 Total and volatile solids	42
3.4.1.1.2 Oxygen uptake rate	42
3.4.1.1.3 Pathogen indicators	44
3.4.1.1.4 pH	46
3.4.1.1.5 Ammonia content	46
3.4.1.1.6 Total Kjeldahl nitrogen	46
3.4.1.1.7 Organic nitrogen	46
3.4.1.1.8 Total carbon	46
3.4.1.1.9 C/N ratio	46

v

-

.

vi

4.2.2.2 Stability analyses	92
4.2.2.2.1 Analyses on solid compost	92
4.2.2.2 Analyses of water extract	99
4.2.2.3 Phytotoxicity studies	99
4.2.2.3.1 Seedling study	99
5. Discussion	105
5.1 Sampling Methodology	105
5.2 Stability Parameters	106
5.2.1 Experiments 1, 2, and 3	106
5.2.2 Experiment 4	107
5.3 Phytotoxicity Studies	113
5.3.1 Seedling study	113
5.3.2 Established turfgrass study	114
5.4 Correlation between Stability Parameters and Phytotoxicity	115
5.5 Summary of Discussion	116
6. Conclusions	119
7. Bibliography	121

List of Figures

Figure 2.1	Schematic Windrow System	13
Figure 2.2	Aerated Static Pile	15
Figure 2.3	In-vessel Composting Systems	17
Figure 3.1	Area Sampled at Hoosac Composting Facility	41
Figure 3.2	Scheme of a Constant Pressure RespirometerUsed During Experiment 1	43
Figure 3.3	Scheme of a Constant Pressure RespirometerUsed During Experiments 2, 3 and 4	45
Figure 4.1	Compost Stability Parameters, Experiment 1	57
Figure 4.2	Compost Stability Parameters, Experiment 2	58
Figure 4.3	Cummulative Oxygen Uptake, Experiments 1 and 2	61
Figure 4.4	Pathogen Indicators, Experiment 1	62
Figure 4.5	Pathogen Indicators, Experiment 2	63
Figure 4.6	TOC and Ammonia Content in Water Extract, Experiments 1 and 2	66
Figure 4.7	Compost Stability Parameters, Experiment 3	81
Figure 4.8	Cummulative Oxygen Uptake, Experiment 3	83
Figure 49	Pathogen Indicators, Experiment 3	84
Figure 4.10) Sites Sampled at the Composting bay, Experiment 4	94
Figure 4.1.	Compost Stability Parameters, Experiment 4	97
Figure 4.12	2 Cummulative Oxygen Uptake, Experiment 4	98
Figure 4.1	3 Pathogen Indicators, Experiment 4	98
Figure 5.1	Linear Regression between Stability Parameters and Composting Time,	
	Experiment 4	110
Figure 5.2	Linear Regression between Pathogen Indicators and Composting Time,	
	Francisco A	111

List of Tables

Table 2.1	Composting Growth in the US 1983-1994	10
Table 2.2	Massachusetts Sludge Composting Facilities Status as of 8/02/94	11
Table 2.3	Methods to Determine Compost Maturity Parameters	24
Table 2.4	Methods to Determine Compost Stability Parameters	25
Table 3.1	Summary of Experiments Characteristics	35
Table 3.2	Sampling Dates at the In-vessel Composting Facility, Experiments 1 and 2	38
Table 3.3	Sampling Dates at the Aerated Static Pile Composting Facility,	
	Experiments 3 and 4	40
Table 3.4	Differences Among Turfgrasses Species	49
Table 3.5	Seedling Study Data	50
Table 4.1	Summary of Compost Stability Parameters, Experiment 1	55
Table 4.2	Summary of Compost Stability Parameters Experiment 2	56
Table 4.3	Correlation Coefficients between Stability Parameters, Experiments 1 and 2	67
Table 4.4	Statistical Analyses of Seedling Study (by average of species), Experiment 1	69
Table 4.5	Statistical Analyses of Seedling Study (by species), Experiment 1	70
Table 4.6	Statistical Analyses of Seedling Study (by average of species), Experiment 2	73
Table 4.7	Statistical Analyses of Seedling Study (by species), Experiment 2	74
Table 4.8	Quality Rating and Statistical Analyses of Established Turfgrass Study,	
	Experiment 1	76
Table 4.9	Results of Established Turfgrass Study by Schumann <u>et al</u>	78
Table 4.10) Summary of Compost Stability Parameters, Experiment 3	80
Table 4.11	Correlation Coefficients between Stability Parameters, Experiment 3	86
Table 4.12	2 Statistical Analyses of Seedling Study (by average of species), Experiment 3	88
Table 4.13	3 Statistical Analyses of Seedling Study (by species), Experiment 3	90
Table 4.14	Composite Sample Information, Experiment 4	93
Table 4.15	5 Summary of Compost Stability Parameters, Experiment 4	96
Table 4.10	5 Statistical Analyses of Seedling Study (by average of species), Experiment 4	100
Table 4.17	Statistical Analyses of Seedling Study (by species), Experiment 4	102
Table 5.1	Correlation Coefficients between Stability Parameters, Experiment 4	108

Table of Abbreviations

•

.

ASP	Aerated static pile system		
BOD	Biological oxygen demand		
CFR	Code of Federal Regulations		
MPN	Most probably number		
PFRP	Process to further reduce pathogens		
RCRA	Resource Conservation Recovery Act		
TC	Total carbon (in solid phase)		
TOC	Total organic carbon (in water extract)		
TS	Total solids		
USEPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency		
VS	Volatile solids		
WE	Water extract		
cbg	creeping bent grass		
kbg	kentucky blue grass		
tf	tall fescue		
r	Pearson's correlation coefficient		
R	Linear regression coefficient (least square method)		
α	error (Duncan's multiple test of variables)		
cm	centimeter		
су	cubic yard		

dt	dry ton
ds	dry solids
ft	feet
g	grams
ha	hectare
hr	hour
kg	kilogram
lbs	pounds
m	meter
ml	mililiter
nm	nanometer
μm	micrometer
w	week
wt	wet ton
yr	year

•

xi

1. Introduction

1.1 Purpose of Study

Over the past 20 years, U.S. legislative actions have imposed strict limits on the disposal of organic wastes, such as sewage sludge, due to potentially severe environmental problems associated with the management of such residuals⁽⁴⁴⁾. At present, there are a variety of sewage sludge treatment processes that have been developed to solve such problems. However, among the list of sludge managment technologies, disposal processes may no longer be considered the best option. In contrast, processes that allow the recovery of resources are more environmentally sound, cost effective, and are ranked higher in the USEPA hierarchy of waste minimization practices.

Composting is one of the leading beneficial sludge treatment alternatives in the U.S.. At the present, composting contributes to the solution of the problem of safe sludge disposal, and at the same time produces a recycled product with a high marketing potential: sludge compost. Sludge compost also known as biosolids compost, is a biologically stable and aesthetically pleasant product, free of odors and highly suitable for horticultural uses and land reclamation because of its soil conditioner characteristics₍₂₅₎.

In order for any composting facility to be successful, the product compost must be marketed. The compost may be either given away or sold, but the compost must be of good quality on a consistent basis. Regulations exist for quality in terms of heavy metals, pathogen indicators, and vector attraction. Another important parameter is compost stability or maturity. Although no regulations are set for stability or maturity, both are very important parameters for product quality.

Many efforts have been made in order to find a parameter that could predict product quality, and could be used as an engineering parameter for process control. Several stability parameters have been proposed for such purposes. However, there is no consensus on which of these is the most reliable. When compost is used on plant systems, stability parameters must predict phytotoxicity. In the seach for the optimal parameter, one of the main questions is, what level of stabilization is required for a specific compost to assure no phytotoxic effect on a particular plant system. Once the level of stabilization is determined, it is neccesary to define which are the best stability parameters that will predict such effects and could be used in process control.

A similar approach was followed in the present study. A plant system identified as a potential market for compost(turfgrass), was chosen to determine its response to sludge compost and to determine the optimal stability parameters. The present study intended to continue a previous study by Schumann *et al.*(42), in which positive effects of sludge compost were observed on established turfgrass. The particular purpose of the present work, was to confirm those results and extend the study to turfgrass seeds. The main idea was to determine the required stability level for sludge compost that assures no phytotoxic effects in turfgrass and determine the stability parameters that can predict such effects.

1.2 Objectives

1.2.1 Main objective

The main objective of this research was to determine if there is a correlation between traditonal stability parameters and phytotoxic effects of sludge compost on turfgrass. In order to accomplish this objective the following specific objectives are stated:

1.2.2 Specific objectives

1.1 To determine the stability of compost at different composting ages.

1.2 To determine the effects of compost on different turfgrass species at two different growth stages.

1.3 To determine which of the traditional stability parameters predicts the phytotoxic effects of compost when used on turfgrasses with more reliability.

2. Background

2.1 Municipal Sewage Sludge

Of the constituents removed by wastewater treatment, sludge is by far the largest in volume, and its management the most complex problem facing the engineer in the field of wastewater treatment₍₃₇₎. At present, the EPA estimates there are 20,000 dry tons of sludge being generated every day in the U.S. It is also estimated that sludge production will approximately double by the year $2000_{(11)}$.

Enormous quantities of sludge started being produced in the last two decades as a consequence of several factors. In 1972, the establishment of secondary treatment standards by the Clean Water Act promoted the construction of wastewater treatment plants which greatly increased the volume of sludge generation₍₅₀₎. Since then, other changes have occurred, contributing to the increase in sludge production including: the expansion of sewage service areas, stricter effluent standards, and the upgrading of treatment plants for combined storm overflow treatment. Concurrently, population has been increasing at the same time_(11,44).

Since sludge management is an important issue, numerous disposal alternatives have been developed over the last decades. These alternatives comprise a wide range of processes, as well as different levels of technology. The use of some of these technologies changed over the past years. Some have gained acceptance while others have been

constrained. Technologies considered appropriate in the past, may no longer be viable now. Changes in regulations have been the main reason for such changes. New regulations are strict due to the potentially severe environmental problems associated with the management of such residuals₍₄₄₎. Recent regulations discourage certain sludge management practices and promote others.

A good example of a technology no longer considered as a viable sludge management practice, is ocean dumping. Years ago, this practice was one of the principle sludge disposal alternatives for large metropolitan areas such as Boston, New York, New Jersey, and Los Angeles_{(9).} However, after many years of discussion, the U.S. Congress finally banned ocean dumping as of December 31, 1991_{(18).}

Incineration of municipal sewage sludge, although still practiced in the US has been constrained over the recent past. The EPA risk assessment model showed the highest potential health concerns with this practice. Incineration standards are strict, with pollutant limits for heavy metals, operation, and management practices₍₁₁₎. In order to comply with strict regulations, improvements in technology and operation have been made, with increases the associated costs.

Landfill disposal has also been de-emphasized. In fact, it is now considered the least desirable waste disposal alternative. Older landfills are closing or expected to close due to the recently promulgated RCRA regulations (40 CFR part 258)₍₁₀₎. This rule, has also led to an anticipated shortage of available landfills, decreasing space, and higher landfilling costs. Municipalities landfilling their biosolids are finding that it is simply too costly to haul biosolids to more distant landfills, even if the tipping fee is competitive₍₉₎.

Besides the strict new regulations, there is another important factor that has modified the use of some sludge management technologies: the idea of considering municipal sewage sludge as a valuable resource(beneficial use)and not as a waste₍₃₃₎. This concept has been growing in popularity recently. It is widely recognized, that the current trend for sludge disposal is now toward disposal alternatives that allow a beneficial use of sludge_(11,18,44). Moreover, current EPA policy "actively promotes municipal sludge management practices which provide for the beneficial use of sludge while maintaining or improving environmental quality and protecting public health"₍₄₈₎.

A beneficial use of sludge can be defined as those disposal processes that take advantage of either it's nutrient, soil conditioner and/or fuel properties. Among the most common systems which promote the beneficial use of sludge are: chemical fixation, land application, composting, incineration and heat drying. The trend toward beneficial use of sludge is being lead by three technologies that each manufacture a unique product for land application. They are composting, heat drying, and alkaline stabilization_(9,11).

2.2 Beneficial Use of Sludge Treatment Alternatives.

2.2.1 Thermal drying

Heat drying of sludge is not a new practice in the United States. The Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewage District has been marketing Milorganite (a heat dried sludge product) since the 1920's. Thermal drying of sludge involves the application of heat to evaporate water from sludge. The process reduces the moisture content of wet sludge to a level below that achievable by conventional mechanical dewatering methods. The relative advantages include the reduction of transportation costs, further pathogen reduction, and, improved storage capability and marketability₍₅₀₎. This process if properly conducted, can be considered as a "process to further reduce pathogens"₍₄₈₎. In addition, considerable volume reduction can be achieved.

A common variation of heat drying is the pelletizing process in which sludge is first dewatered and then heat-dried using rotary pelletizing dryers. Pellets are easy to store, handle and are compatible with fertilizer application equipment.

Heat-dried sludge products usually contain 4 to 6 percent nitrogen, with a high percentage of solids (greater than 98% solids), and may be dusty if they are not properly pelletized. Traditionally, most of the Milorganite and heat dried sludge products are sold to the national fertilizer market, primarily to fertilizer blenders in the southeastern $US_{(9)}$.

2.2.2 Chemical fixation

The chemical fixation/solidification process has been applied to the treatment of industrial sludge and hazardous wastes to immobilize undesirable constituents. However, this process has also been used to stabilize municipal sludge for use as landfill cover and for land reclamation projects. The chemical fixation process consists of mixing untreated or treated liquid or dewatered sludge with stabilizing agents such as cement, cement kiln dust, pozzolan (fine-grain silicate) and lime so as to chemically react with or encapsulate the sludge₍₃₇₎.

Lime is the most commonly used chemical for sludge stabilization, also called alkaline stabilization. This process depends on maintaining the pH at a high enough level for a sufficient period of time to pasteurize sludge. To qualify as a process to further reduce pathogens (PFRP), and to inactivate odor-causing microorganisms, the pH of the sludge must be maintained at or above 12 for a period of two hours₍₅₀₎. The elevation of the pH is accomplished using one of several chemicals containing lime. These include calcium oxide, and calcium hydroxide. There are several variations of the process which are proprietary but in general, all are based on the same principles.

In some cases, lime-stabilized sludge may be land applied, benefiting large agricultural areas with acidic soils. Alkaline stabilized sludge, has lower concentrations of available nutrients (as nitrogen and phosphorous), than a comparable mixture of biological stabilized primary and waste activated sludge, due to chemical reactions that occur in lime stabilization as well as the substantial addition of inert solids (37,50). Alkaline sludge product, has been found to be very useful in agriculture as a liming agent and soil amendment especially for acid soils. The product has low odor, is approximately 50 to 60% dry solids, meets the PFRP requirement, and it is easily stored (11).

2.2.3 Composting

There are numerous cases in which composting has been used successfully in the treatment of different organic wastes including: municipal biosolids, industrial sludge and

wastes, manure, yard wastes, food and agricultural wastes, municipal solid waste, and hazardous wastes among others_(21, 25, 29, 37, 51, 54).

Sewage sludge is one of the most common substrates for compost. Since the mid 1970's sludge composting has received increased attention as a cost effective and environmentally sound alternative for the stabilization and ultimate disposal of wastewater sludge₍₃₇₎.

Composting can be defined as the aerobic, thermophilic, biological decomposition of material under controlled conditions₍₄₄₎. It is essentially the same process that is responsible for the decay of organic matter occurring in nature, except that it is accomplished under controlled conditions. Composting reduces both volume and mass of the raw materials and transforms them into a final biologically stable and aesthetically pleasant product, free of odors and highly suitable for horticultural uses and land reclamation because of its soil conditioner characteristics₍₂₅₎. In addition to its significance as part of a waste management strategy, composting plays an important role in agriculture. In fact, composting is considered an important strategy which supports the goals of sustainable agriculture. The aspect is based on its agricultural benefits by its contribution to soil improvement, nutrient recycling, pesticide use reduction, and improvement of farm economics_(53,57).

The final product is called compost, a humus like material. There are numerous attributes of compost. Compost is a source of organic matter for maintaining or building supplies of soil humus, helping to maintain or build a proper soil structure and moisture holding capacity. In particular for sandy soils, compost increases water content - water retention, and promotes aggregation. For clay soils, compost enhances aeration, permeability, and increases water infiltration. In agricultural and plant systems, compost also produces a greater root depth; increases microbial populations; and decreases surface crusting⁽⁴⁷⁾. Compost can improve the growth and vigor of crops, reduces plant pathogens, and improves plant resistance to disease. Although compost contains valuable nutrients such as Nitrogen, Phosphorous and a variety of essential trace metals, because of the relative small quantity of these nutrients, it can not be classified as a fertilizer. In terms

of nitrogen leaching, the nitrogen in the compost is organically bound, so it is slowly released through the growing season_(25,44).

2.3 Composting Generalities

2.3.1 Composting processes

There are several different types of processes used for sludge composting. Each system is composed of certain common basic steps. The basic steps of the composting process include:

1. Mixing dewatered sludge with a bulking agent and/or amendment

2. Aerating the composting pile by either the addition of air, or mechanical turning

3. Recovery of the bulking agent (optional)

4. Further curing (optional)

5. Final disposal

The first and second steps are critical to the success of the process. Recovery of the bulking agent is an optional step which relates to system economy and product quality (e.g. final product with or without wood chips). The curing stage also relates to product quality as it influences compost stability. During this period which can last as long as 30 to 60 days, further product stabilization and pathogen die-off occurs, along with degassing. Final disposal will depend on the market for the product compost₍₄₄₎.

2.3.2 Level of sludge composting

Composting of municipal wastewater sludge was assisted in its development by work at Beltsville, Maryland (US Department of Agriculture), by research partially sponsored by EPA, and by work at the Los Angeles County Sanitation Districts in California. These efforts in the early 1970's, led the development of the aerated static pile and the windrow compost systems, respectively₍₁₁₎. In the last decade, composting has been growing. Actual plants in operation have tripled from 61 to 186 plants. **Table 2.1** shows the growth of composting over the last ten years in the United States. With respect

to New England, composting and composting marketing is strong. In 1990 there were 35 facilities operating in the six state region, processing approximately 150 dry tons of sludge per calendar day. In 1993, the number had grown to 46 facilities processing over 250 dry tons of sludge per day₍₃₄₎. At the present, in the state of Massachusetts, there are a total of 22 composting facilities either in operation, or in the planning, construction and design phase₍₁₂₎. **Table 2.2** includes information about these plants.

Table 2.1Composting Growth in the US 1983-1994(21)

Year	In operation	In planning, construction, and design	Total
1983	61	29	90
1988	. 114	105	219
1990	133	122	255
1991	149	126	275
1992	165	125	290
1993	186	135	321
1994	201	117	318

Massachusetts Sludge Composting Facilities Status as of 8/02/94 (12)				
Name	Status	Туре	Estimated volume	
Barre	Operational	ASP	5 cy/week (160 wt/yr)	
Billerica	Operational	ASP	10 cy/Day (951 wt/yr)	
Bridgewater	Operational	ASP	48 cy/month	
Dartmouth	Operational	IPS	(712 wt/yr)	
Edgardtown	Planning	ASP		
Haverhill	Design	In-Vessel	500 cy/week (est)	
Holyoke/Partika	Operational	IPS	(5294 wt/yr)	
Hoosac	Operational	ASP,encl	120cy/day (1568 wt/yr)	
Hospedale	Pilot	ASP	(218 wt/yr)	
Ipswich	Operational	ASP	0.2 dt/day (712 wt/yr)	
Leicester	Operational	ASP, encl	10 cy/week (79wt/yr)	
Mansfield	Operational	ASP	30 cy/week (1884wt/yr)	
Marlboro	Operational	ASP	20 cy/day (17495 wt/yr)	
MCI/Concord	Planning	ASP		
Medfield	Design Comp	ASP	3.0 dt/week	
Nantucket	Operational	ASP	(5,074 wt/yr)	
Pepperell	Operational	ASP	9cy/week (273 wt/yr)	
Somerset	Operational	ASP, encl	(343 wt/yr)	
Southbridge	Operational	ASP	18 cy/day (1435 wt/yr)	
Springfield	Operational	Taulman	(20,442 wt/yr)	
Swampscott	to Lynn	ASP	7cy/day (5 days)	
Yarmouth	Operational	Royer	-	

Table 2.2

ASP = aerated static pile; ASP, encl = enclosed aerated static pile IPS = International Process Systems

wt= wet tons; dt= dry tons; cy= cubic yards; dt=dry tons; yr=year

2.3.3 Composting systems

There are a wide variety of composting systems, but for the most part composting systems can be divided into three general categories: windrow, static pile, and in-vessel₍₄₄₎. Different approaches have been used to categorize composting systems. Haug₍₂₅₎ has published a comprehensive treatise on composting engineering, and uses an approach which emphasizes reactor type, solids-flow mechanisms, bed conditions in the reactor and manner of air supply. He states that the most basic distinction among systems, is weather the composting material is contained in a reactor or not. Systems that use reactors are popularly termed "mechanical", "enclosed" or "in-vessel". US practice has adopted the term "in-vessel" for reactor type systems. The windrow and static pile processes are the basic two types of non-reactor systems. A brief description of each of these processes is presented in the following sections.

2.3.3.1 Windrow systems

Windrow systems are composed of long, narrow rows of sludge mixed with a bulking agent. The rows are typically trapezoidal in shape, 1 to 2 meters high and 2 to 4.5 meters wide at the base. The rows are usually uncovered, but can be protected by simple roofs. In this process, the sludge mix is aerated by convective air movement and diffusion. The rows are periodically turned by mechanical means to expose the sludge to ambient oxygen, to dissipate heat, as well as to refluff the rows to maintain good free air space. Windrows can also be aerated by induced aeration₍₄₄₎. Figure 2.1 shows a diagram of a windrow system.

Among the advantages of these systems are:

- Low cost and flexibility, and
- Simple operation.

Windrow disadvantages include:

- Poor opportunities for odor containment
- Extended land requirements



Figure 2.1 Schematic Windrow System₍₃₉₎.

- Sensitivity to adverse climates, and
- Due to the low aeration rate, these systems are generally unsuitable for raw sludge because of the inability to meet initial high oxygen demands.

2.3.3.2 Aerated static piles

These systems are also composed of a sludge/bulking agent mixture. A distribution system on the bottom of the pile is used to allow either positive or vacuum aeration. No agitation or turning of the static bed occurs during the compost cycle, and the piles are formed on a batch basis (see **Figure 2.2**). Some recent designs for the aerated static pile process (ASP), have included provisions for tearing the pile down, breaking up solids and, reforming for additional composting. If this provision is used, the system can be classified as a "semi-agitated" because the agitation is considerably less than that normally associated with the windrow system₍₂₅₎. Static piles may be built as single batches or by adding extentions to an existing pile. In a typical static pile, the bulking agent consists of wood chips, which are mixed with the dewatered sludge by a pug mill type or rotating drum mixer. At the present time, the greatest number of facilities in the US, employ the static pile method₍₂₀₎.

There are numerous advantages for the static pile. These include the following:

- Suitable for converting digested and undigested sludge cake
- Insulation of the pile and a controlled aeration rate enable better odor and quality control than the windrow process.
- High degree for process reliability through simplicity of operation.
- More effective use of space and higher rates of pathogen inactivation₍₄₄₎, and
- Less expensive than in-vessel systems.

Disadvantages include:

- Odor problems will occur if the system is not enclosed, however once the system is enclosed it becomes difficult to achieve good aeration through the pile, and
- The systems are more complex and require more energy for aeration than windrow systems.





a) Aerated static pile parts, and b) extended aerated static pile layout (39)

2.3.3.3 In-vessel

This process takes place in either partially or completely enclosed containers. There are a variety of systems using various forced aeration and mechanical turning technologies. Figure 2.3 show two of these systems. In-vessel systems are designed to minimize odors and process time by controlling environmental conditions such as air flow, temperature, and oxygen concentration. In-vessel systems offer excellent possibilities for process and odor control_{(44).} They are also amenable for containing and capturing any odorous gases produced.

In-vessel composting is very space efficient, but more mechanically complex than the other two categories. The use of this type of systems has increased rapidly in recent years. Among the newer facilities commissioned within the past few years, a greater percentage are using in-vessel methods₍₂₀₎.

There are numerous types of in-vessel systems. Considering the reactor classification, in-vessel composting systems can be divided in two major categories: plug flow and dynamic (agitated bed). In plug-flow systems, the relationship between the particles in the composting mass remain in the same relative position throughout the process, and the system operates on a first-in first-out principle. In a dynamic system, the compost material is mechanically mixed during processing. Another classification is based on the manner of solids flow as either vertical flow reactors or horizontal flow reactors. Horizontal flow includes a number of reactor types in which the reactor is slightly tilted from the horizontal position to promote solids flow. Several versions of vertical reactors are available and include cylindrical and rectangular reactor geometry with counter-current and co-current aeration patterns₍₂₅₎.

Advantages attributed to in-vessel systems include:

- More consistent product quality
- Faster throughout
- Fewer personnel required lower labor cost
- More effective odor control



Figure 2.3 In- vessel Composting Systems

a) rectangular agitated bed(39), and b) cilindrical agitated bed(37)

- Better public acceptance due to aesthetics, and
- Less space required

Disadvantages include:

- Mechanically complex
- Requires higher construction and operation cost
- Higher cost among compost systems, and
- Requires skilled personnel to operate the plant.

2.3.4 Marketability

A general definition of compost as a product, can be summarized as follows: compost is an organic soil conditioner that has been stabilized to a humus-like product, that is free of viable human and plant pathogens and plant seeds, that does not attract insects or vectors, that can be handled and stored without nuisance, and that is beneficial to the growth of plants. As has been mentioned in section 2.2.3, compost is a competitive product for use as a low-analysis fertilizer, soil conditioner and growing medium for container plants. It can be used in the production of field crops, fruits and vegetables, forages, nursery crops and ornamentals(35,46). A recent survey on composting plants(18) shows that the market for biosolids continues to be diverse, and relatively strong. The use of compost as a peat substitute in container media has also increased₍₃₂₎. Devitt *et al.*⁽⁸⁾ noted that a promising market also exists for compost as an soil conditioner and nutrient source for soils low in organic matter. Dessert soils of the arid southwest, for instance, require addition of organic matter to improve both the growth and vigor of ornamental plants. The use of most of the commercial organic amendments such as peat moss or composted sawdust are prohibitively expensive to use in large-scale planting. Therefore sludge compost can be considered an inexpensive and suitable option to provide organic matter. Furthermore, sludge compost can also be used advantageously as a topsoil substitute, for establishment and production of sod, for the reclamation and revegetation of disturbed lands, and to improve marginal soils(46).

An important market for compost sludge is the turfgrass industry. This market is particularly attractive, since turfgrass often occupies large acreage in and around the cities

where sludge is $produced_{(8)}$. Application of sludge compost to turfgrass is useful as a soil conditioner for establishment and production, as well as to improve aeration and decrease thatch development₍₄₆₎.

At the present time, the most widely used marketing method for sludge compost, is bulk sales, which outpaces retail sales in bags by a ratio of more than 4:1. The most common users are landscaper contractors, followed by nurseries and the general public. Public and private landfills, professional groundskeepers, soil blenders, farmers, highway departments, public agencies, golf course operators and mineland reclamation projects are other common purchasers of sludge compost_(20,34).

2.3.5 Compost quality

Compost quality may be defined as a compilation of several characteristics₍₂₈₎ including: product standards, nutrient content, salts content and pH among others. Product standards can be related to metals content and pathogen content. The quality of a compost is important primarily for three distinct reasons:

1) Protection of public health and the environment. Public health risks associated with compost come from exposure to human pathogens, aerospores and vectors. Furthermore, there are health risks associated with the heavy metals and trace organics contained in compost, which can enter the food chain through plants. In order to assure that both public health and environment will be protected, compost must comply with certain product standards_{(6).}

2) Effect on soils and plant growth. Since the major use of compost is as a soil conditioner and nutrient provider, phytotoxic effects must be eliminated. Moreover, animal or plant health aspects and disease suppressive properties of compost are affected by maturity₍₃₂₎.

3) Marketing reasons, such as appearance (color, texture, particle size), odor and handling characteristics, which are established by the existing market demand. Compost quality is ultimately the most "technical' measuring stick as to the acceptability of particular compost₍₂₈₎ in the market.

Since there are diverse uses of compost, quality is usually defined by the several characteristics and is not absolute. Chen and Inbar₍₆₎ have suggested that compost quality parameters and values should be categorized according to where and how the compost is utilized. They have proposed the following compost quality classification (ranking from high to low quality): container media, home gardening, field grown nursery stock and sod production, top soils, field crops, land reclamation, and finally land cover.

Sludge compost "product standards" related to public health and the environment, have been established by the EPA on a risk assessment basis. Sludge base composts are regulated under "sold or given away" provisions of the Clean Water Act, Rule 503, part $B_{(48)}$. Sludge based compost products must meet certain metals limits and also comply with pathogen quality and vector attraction standards to be considered of exceptional quality. Compost of exceptional can be used with minimal restrictions.

2.3.6 Phytotoxicity

Injuries to growing plants or germinating seeds have often been reported following improper application of organic matter in agriculture. Information on organic matter phytotoxicity has not always been systematically gathered, nor properly interpreted. Uncertainty thus persists as to the amount and frequency of damage₍₅₅₎.

Phytotoxicity, toxicity to plants causing growth suppression or death, is obviously closely tied to growth response. Soils ammended with compost added to soils which produce less growth than the soils without compost demonstrate the potential of phytotoxicity. Compost can be phytotoxic for two reasons: contamination or immaturity. The compost may be initially contaminated by substances such as herbicides, heavy metals, or soluble salts. Phytotoxicity caused by compost immaturity is due to several compounds. The composting process itself produces phytotoxic by-products that will degrade into harmless substances if the compost is allowed to fully mature. A number of phytotoxic substances are produced as intermediate products in the composting process including phenols, fatty acids, ammonia, amines₍₅₅₎, ethylene oxide, acetic acid and other organic acids such as benzoic, propionic and butyric acids₍₆₎. The production of phytotoxic substances is partly dependent on the feedstock₍₅₅₎.

Feedstocks with very low C/N ratios seem to undergo a prolonged period of ammonia production, causing delayed maturation and increases in phytotoxicity₍₂₈₎. A high rate of toxin production is related, even under aerobic conditions, to the accessibility of the substrate and to the rate of growth of microbial populations. During composting, the initial microbial population, mostly bacteria, increases geometrically which leads to rapid exhaustion of the readily available substrate. Subsequently, the existing population decreases and a new population develops on the residue of the original one. This new wave of growth is generally characterized by a "return" of toxicity. The return of toxicity may seldom be noticed in the composting pile, where the evolution appears less uniform, and stages develop out of phase.

Many factors contribute to the disappearance of toxicity at more advanced stages of the process. These include changes in the microbial composition (actinomycetes and fungi prevail at the end) metabolic destruction of toxins, and synthesis of new polymers. In the final stage (curing) the presence of the free molecules is limited to products of mineralization and to a few microbial excretions. Metabolism that produces toxins differs greatly between the two stages, and is generally higher when the process reaches the stabilization phase. Interruption of composting leads to later completion of residual stages₍₅₆₎.

Allelopathic toxins in wastes can cause problems. They are generally destroyed within a few weeks of composting. However, sometimes an appropriate curing is essential to stabilize compost and eliminate or reduce negative plant effects due to allelopathic toxins₍₂₈₎.

There are several reports about phytotoxicity of immature compost on different plant systems. Chen and Inbar₍₆₎, cited several researchers' works on phytotoxicity, including: reports on reduction in root growth of young barley plants cultured in different soils amended with straw; and identification of acetic acid as a phytotoxin in immature compost. The correlation between phytotoxicity degree and compost maturity observed in seeds of *Brassica chinesis* has been reported by Wong and Chu₍₅₄₎. Others such as Zucconi *et al.*₍₅₆₎, observed phytotoxic effects in different plant species when compost of different maturity levels was applied.

Plant roots are especially adapted to the particular soil condition in which they grow. If that condition is suddenly changed in some way, the plant's metabolism will slow as energy is used to generate a new absorbing apparatus. Different plant species have varying environmental sensitivities and will react differently to the same change₍₅₅₎. Another factor affecting the response of plants to phytotoxic conditions is the ability of roots to differentially absorb organic molecules. Roots seem to be susceptible to a new substance at first contact, but if this initial exposure is not lethal, their absorption mechanism will adapt to keep the toxic substance from being assimilated₍₅₆₎.

2.3.7 Compost stability and compost maturity

Compost maturity and/or compost stability, are key characteristics defining compost quality. They are important in terms of potential phytotoxic effects, temporary nutrient imbalances, and possible odors from a non-finished composting product. Switzenbaum₍₄₄₎ noted that there is a good deal of confusion in the published literature regarding compost maturity and compost stability. Iannoti Frost *et al.*₍₃₁₎ have remarked that the terms maturity and stability are often used interchangeably and suggest the following distinctions: "Compost stability is readily definable by its biological property of microbial activity. In contrast, the term compost maturity is a broad and all encompassing term. Compost maturity is an elusive concept meaning different things to different people. It is often linked to the intended usage of compost". Since compost maturity is connected with the final use of compost, it is a subjective term. Thus any definition of maturity must be based on the potential use of the compost₍₄₄₎.

Compost stability is important to designers and operators of composting plants. To distinguish differences in efficiency among systems, stability assays have to be performed that determine the extent to which the raw product has been stabilized. Compost stability has been defined by several parameters, however none of these have been widely accepted as the ideal one. A description of the existing stability parameters is presented in the next section.

Chen and Inbar₍₆₎, have proposed the following definitions for mature compost depending of its use: 1) greenhouse utilization: organic matter composted to the degree of

decomposition that has no adverse effects on container grown plants; and 2) field application: organic matter composted to the degree of decomposition that has no adverse effects on growth on various crops when applied at annual rates up to 50 tons/ha. at least 6 weeks before sowing or planting. However, neither of these definitions is absolute. Lopez-Real *et al.*(35), have shown that there are differences in sensitivity among plant species grown in container media. Thus, the degree of decomposition will vary depending on the species to be grown in such containers. This second definition is not general either because it does not specify the type of crops, type of application, nor age of the plant. Schumann *et al.*(42) have demonstrated that sludge compost does not have phytotoxic effects on established turfgrass even when it has been composted for just 10 days. Conversely, Zuconni *et al.*(56) have investigated the phytotoxic effect of fresh, immature, and mature compost on various plant species, including cress seeds. They concluded that phytotoxic effects appeared to be strictly associated with the initial stage of decomposition.

2.3.8 Stability and maturity parameters

The most common testing methods currently advocated for "maturity" measurements of compost can actually be divided into maturity and stability tests. Essentially maturity assays aim to predict plant growth response or some other measure of appropriate end-use₍₃₁₎.

At the present, there are several parameters that have been developed for composting process control and for final product quality, including both maturity and stability parameters. The inventory covers many possibilities and the determination of these parameters is based on one or more of the chemical, physical, microbial and phytotoxic characteristics of the compost. As can be seen in **Tables 2.3 and 2.4**, the list of these parameters is wide and covers many possibilities. However, none of these has been widely accepted. Golueke₍₂₂₎ pointed out: "Composting practice has relied more and more on scientific principles as time passes but, the search for a simple yet reliable and universally applicable analytical tool for evaluating compost maturity remains to be found". Although there is no unanimous acceptance of one of these measurements as the
Table 2.3 Methods to Determine Compost Maturity Parameters(19,31,32,43,56)						
1. Chemical analyses	 In solid compost: a. C/N ratio In water extract: a. C/N b. Concentration of NO₃⁻/NH₄⁺ c. Concentration of organic acids d. Organic acids content 					
2. Physical analyses	a. Water holding capacity b. Porosity					
3. Microbiological assays	a. Suppression of plant pathogens					
4. Plant bioassays	 a. Cress germination test in water extract b. Rye-grass growth in compost containing mixtures c. Seedling development in compost and water extract d. Application of compost to established plant systems 					

,

Table 2.4							
Methods to Determine Compost Stability Parameters _(7,19,25,29,31,32,40) .							
1. Chemical analyses	 a. Carbon/Nitrogen ratio b. Water soluble ions c. Water soluble organic matter d. Cation exchange capacity e. Crude fiber analysis f. Rise in redox potential g. Ash or Volatile solids h. Starch and cellulose content I. Amount of decomposable and resistant organic material 						
2. Physical Analyses	 a. Final drop in temperature b. Degree of self heating capacity c. Color d. Odor e. Particle size f. Appearance and texture g. Water and air content 						
3. Microbiological assays	 a. Respiration rate and/or carbon dioxide evolution rate b. Indicator microorganisms c. Microbial activity and biomass d. Nucleic acid or ATP e. Suppression of plant pathogens 						
5. Spectroscopy	a. Solid State: CPMAS ¹³ C -NMR b. Infrared - (transmission and diffused reflectance spectroscopy)						
6. Degree of humification	 a. Total humic substances b. Content and ratios of humic and fulvic acids and non humic fractions c. Functional groups content 						

CPMAS ¹³C -NMR =Cross-polarization magic angle spinning¹³C-Nuclear Magnetic Resonance

.

universal parameter for either stability or maturity, some are considered more reliable than others. For stability parameters, respiration rate and chemical analyses on water extracts, have recently been considered as the most reliable parameters (5,30,31), while plant assays are the most useful among the maturity parameters (6,56).

A brief discussion of some of the most commonly measured parameters is presented in the following section. Some other parameters which may be useful as complementary information about the performance of the composting process are also included.

2.3.8.1 Analysis on solid compost

Volatile solids

Volatile solids (VS), the percent of dry solids lost by ignition at 550°C, is widely used as a rough measure of organic matter. Aerobic biological activity decreases the volatile solids content by converting organic carbon to CO₂; therefore, VS measurement over time during processing might serve as a rate parameter. However, the test fails to discriminate among readily metabolized, putrescible material, less readily metabolized material, and organic material that is not metabolized during any reasonable composting period. Similarly, sensitivity is poor because a high percentage of the dry weight is volatile matter. This means that the decomposition of a relatively large amount of VS may result in only a small change in percent VS. In order to determine the VS changes in the composting process, it has been suggested to report this parameter in terms of its ash value (fixed solid basis). A further problem is associated with the VS test on sludge composted with woodchips or other organic bulking agents that originate outside of the waste stream. The test does not discriminate between woodchips (or fragments) and the sludge; however, screening could help to eliminate materials others than compost_(16,28).

Oxygen uptake rate

Oxygen uptake rate (measured by respirometry) has been widely used to determine substrate degradability as well as the amount of decomposable matter in compost. Respirometry, involves measuring physical factors such as carbon dioxide evolved,

pressure drop resulting from oxygen uptake, or oxygen uptake directly. These procedures can involve different durations of testing as well as the use of different types of respirometers₍₂₅₎. Among the different types of respirometers are the standard BOD bottle, the constant volume respirometer, the electrolytic respirometer, and the constant pressure respirometer_(25,52).

Rates of oxygen uptake have been measured in both batch and continuous composting systems with a variety of feed materials. Haug₍₂₅₎ mentions two works of different researchers using a Warburg respirometer to determine oxygen uptake. Both results showed that oxygen uptake of fresh compost was relative higher than mature compost. Usui *et al.*₍₄₉₎ has also reported determinations of oxygen uptake rate in sludge compost using a electrolytic respirometer. They found that the oxygen uptake rate for cured sludge composted in horizontal agitated beds, ranged between 40 and 127 mg O₂/kg dry solids-hour oxygen uptake rate. Wilson and Dalmat₍₅₂₎, reported oxygen uptake ranges for sludge compost after an ASP system in the range of 150-250 mg O₂/kg ds-h, determined in a constant volume respirometer. After 30 days of curing, a 75% decrease in respiration is also reported. They suggested an oxygen uptake of 100 mgO₂/kg ds-h, should be used if compost will be used for field applications, and a value of 20 mgO₂/kg ds-h for horticultural uses using sensitive plants.

C/N ratio

The C/N ratio of the solid compost product is one of the major operational and compost quality parameters for the composting process. It has been considered a reliable stability parameter for compost since the effects of either a high or low ratio are well known. High available C/N ratios of compost, cause immobilization of nitrogen and nitrogen deficiency in plants. Excessively low C/N immature compost causes ammonium toxicity. Both extremes interfere with plant growth. Normally, a C/N ratio of less than 20 is thought to be desirable. However, C/N ratios of sufficiently well composted materials vary from 5 to 20 depending on the type of raw material, and thus the C/N ratio cannot be used as an absolute indicator of compost stability₍₅₎.

Pathogen indicators

High concentrations of soluble organic nutrients present in immature compost support growth of salmonella, and other pathogens which depend on free nutrients for growth. Concentrations of these available nutrients decline as compost matures. Thus, in properly mature compost, densities of pathogens are low and regrowth of nutrient dependent pathogens is not possible. Therefore, pathogen populations, as well as their regrowth, may be used as stability indicators₍₃₂₎.

Compost pathogen indicators (and *Salmonella*) are parameters included in federal regulations. The USEPA 40 CFR 503 regulations, include important standards for compost in terms of pathogens limits. Composts that are intended to be widely distributed or marketed (called Class A under this regulation) must comply with certain requirements. First, the composting process must use a PFRP time/temperature standard (or equivalent processing) and produce a product with less than or equal to 1000 fecal coliforms per gram dry solids or less than or equal to 3 *Salmonella* per four grams dry solids₍₄₈₎.

It is well documented that certain enteric bacteria can regrow in organic material once temperature is reduced to sublethal levels₍₂₅₎. This phenomena has been observed with total and fecal coliforms, and *Salmonella*_(3,14,25).

2.3.8.2 Analyses on water extract

Most microorganisms in solid phase systems, such as compost, are attached to surfaces and are active in the water-solids interface. This microflora metabolizes substances from the solids through enzymatic activity. The solubilized substances are utilized to support growth or accumulate in the liquid phase. Characteristics of the water extract of compost, therefore, are useful for the determination of compost stability(5.31).

Total Organic Carbon

Several researchers including Inbar *et al.*₍₃₂₎, Garcia *et al.*₍₁₇₎ and Grebus *et al.*₍₂₃₎, have noticed a decrease in soluble organic carbon in the water extract, during the composting and maturation process of different materials. These observations have lead to the proposition that the decrease in soluble carbon can be used as an indicator of

maturity of compost₍₂₈₎. However, there is no consensus about whether this may be considered as a stability parameter, and no target values or ranges have been established. Therefore a decreasing trend of soluble carbon during composting may only give an indication of the extend of decomposition progress, but it can not be considered as a stability parameter.

C/N in water extract

A variation of the C/N measured in the water extract of compost, has been proposed by Chanyasak and Kubota₍₅₎ as an indicator of maturity. These researchers, have found that the water extract C/N_{-org} ratio of several well-composted products show almost constant values of 5 to 6, despite the wide variation in their initial carbon and organic nitrogen contents. They also observed, a correlation between the decrease of C/N_{-org} in water extract, and composting time, for compost with a high initial C/N_{-org}. However, the change in this parameter during composting time, might not be usable as an indicator of maturity for compost with a initial low C/N_{-org} water extract, such as sludge compost.

There are conflicting results presented in the literature concerning the use of this parameter for certain wastes. There are several reports in which the C/N_{org} in water extract has proven as a reliable stability parameter_(5,17,23). In contrast, there are some reports in which the C/N_{org} ratio has not been demonstrated to be a suitable stability parameter_(6,30).

2.3.8.3 Auxiliary parameters

Although not considered as stability parameters, there are other measurements that can be used as auxiliary criteria to determine decomposition progress during composting. Although they can not determine the real stage of stabilization, they may be used as a guidelines and complimentary information about the process. This information can be used for a better control of the process overall. Some of these parameters are discussed in the following section. pH is used as a auxiliary parameter in composting monitoring, because changes in pH during composting have been observed to be predictable. Miller₍₃₈₎, has suggested the use of pH time course changes as indicators of the rate of processing. The expected pattern of pH changes during composting will be a increase from pH = 6 initially to 8.5 as composting activity comes fully underway. This increase is thought to be caused by ammonification. As ammonification decreases, pH in final compost will be expected to drop about 7.5 to 8.0.

Temperature

Temperature is an important factor in composting, as both a consequence and a determinant of $activity_{(38)}$. Since specific sequential changes in temperature during composting are expected to occur, temperature measurements can be used to monitor composting process performance. Extremely low or high temperatures may reflect problems in process control that could affect quality of the final product.

Another approach using temperature measurements during composting, is monitoring for temperature decline. A temperature decline at the end of the composting is considered a good indication that the process is nearing completition. Temperature drop is expected to occur not because of thermal kill, oxygen shortage, low moisture or lack of sufficient pile insulation, but because of degradable material has been depleted. This approach is based on the fact that the rate of heat production is proportional to the amount of organic oxidation, and the amount of heat produced, decreases after the more degradable material is decomposed. Therefore, if thermophilic conditions are observed, the compost is probably not stable and not yet mature₍₂₅₎.

Moisture management

Moisture management is a very important part of proper composting. Typically the initial moisture content of the sludge mixture is adjusted to a value of about 60%. During the composting process, water is lost via evaporation and leaching from the mixture. Water may be gained from precipitation(for uncovered systems) and as a product of

respiration. In general, there is a net loss of water during the process and it is expected that the final mixture will have a moisture content of about $40\%_{(44)}$. When a different pattern is observed, it may be assumed that the performance of the process is affected. For instance, if water is limited, microbial migration and colonization will be affected, as well as the diffusion of substrates and metabolic wastes. Thus, if moisture levels are below 40% during composting, microbial activity will be inhibited. On the other hand, excessive moisture contents, (higher than 60%), restricts gas transfer thuslimiting oxygen supply and anaerobic conditions may exist_(16.) Anaerobic conditions can lead to odor problems and metabolite acumulation.

2.3.8.4 Plant bioassays

It has been said that there is no general and absolute value for any of the maturity parameters that can be applied for all plant species and for all compost types (see section 2.3.7), since that value will depend on the specific use of the compost. If compost is intended to be used as a soil conditioner, the most important parameter is the maturity level required by a specific plant species so that the compost will not cause any negative effects. Plant bioassays are the most reliable test for maturity because they indicate when a compost may be used without inhibitory effects in a particular plant system. The main disadvantage of plant bioassays is the time required, which generally take from one to several weeks to complete. However, once the maturity level of compost is defined through a plant bioassay, a correlation with an easier measure of stability can be made₍₂₄₎.

In order to facilitate the implementation of plant assays, several scientists have used various indicator $\text{plants}_{(52)}$. The cress germination test and the rye-grass assay have been used successfully and correlations with other stability parameters have been made_(6,32,58).

In most of these studies a surrogate system is established by using the most sensitive plant species. If no damage in the most sensitive plants is observed, then no damage to others species can be assumed. On the other hand, plant assays can also be designed considering that among plant species there are different sensitivities and responses to compost. If the intent is to define what the maturity level of a specific

compost is and its effect on a particular plant system, a plant assay must be done with that type of compost using the plant species for which compost is intended to be used. Furthermore, the plant assay must consider the method and rate of application, as well as the plant's growth stage. Different effects will be seen if compost is applied to an established plant system or if it is used as a germination medium. A seedling development test using a particular plant species and compost is thus needed in certain circumstances. Different pot studies have been performed with different seeds species, using different compost types_(6,17,21,32,42). In addition, the use of plant assays to determine the effects of compost on established plant systems has also been reported₍₄₂₎. Results of some of these experimens will be discussed in light of this work experiments results.

3. Experimental Methodology

3.1 General Methodology

Sludge compost from two different composting systems, an in-vessel system (at the Holyoke Composting facility) and an aerated static pile system (ASP) (at the Hoosac Composting Facility), were studied. A total of four experiments were performed and will be referred to as experiments 1, 2, 3, and 4 throughout this report. Experiments 1 and 2 corresponded to samples coming from in-vessel system, while for experiments 3 and 4 samples from a ASP system were used. Each one of the experiments consisted of a sample collection during the composting process, analyses of the samples to determine stability parameters in both, solid and water extract phase, and a plant assay to determine the phytotoxic effects of compost on turfgrass seeds. Plant assays for experiment 1, also included an evaluation of compost effects on established turfgrass for comparison with results previously obtained in a similar study by Schumann *et al.*(42).

The rationale for conducting these experiments is explained as follows: Experiment 1 was designed to analyze samples from an in-vessel system. Then, in order to verify the results obtained during experiment 1, a second experiment (Experiment 2) using samples from the same composting system, was designed. Experiment 3 was designed to analyze compost from an ASP system. However, since results indicated some problems in

the sampling methodology used, a fourth experiment was designed to overcome such difficulties (Experiment 4). Table 3.1 summarizes the analyses performed in each experiment.

3.2 Description of Facilities

3.2.1 Holyoke facility

The Holyoke composting facility is located in the town of Holyoke, Massachusetts. This facility was designed by International Process Systems, Inc. The process is a semi-continuous horizontal system in which sludge is composted between walls that form long channels. The facility contains 16 bays, each approximately 67 meters (220 feet) long. Both forced aeration and mechanical agitation are employed. Each bay at the facility receives supplemental aeration between turnings to aerate and cool the composting sludge. The bays are divided into multiple aeration zones along the length of each chanel. Each zone is aerated by one blower separately controlled by temperature feedback from a single thermocouple within the zone. A rail on top of each wall supports and guides a compost turning machine. As the machine moves forward on the rails, it mixes the compost and discharges the compost behind itself. This procedure moves the compost a fixed distance down the channel with each turning. Since the mixing machine moves the material 3.65 meters (12 feet) per day, the residence time is approximately 18 days. However, the bays are not mixed on Sundays or holidays, so the actual residence time is closer to 21 days at this facility(42).

The sludge composted at the facility is a mixture of primary and secondary sludge dewatered by a filter-press to approximately 30 percent solids. Dewatered sludge is mixed with mulch chips in a 3:1 ratio (by volume), and then placed in the front end of the channel by a loader. The initial moisture content of the mix is approximately 60 percent.

Table 3.1

Summary of Experiments Characteristics

	Experiment 1	Experiment 2	Experiment 3	Experiment 4
Composting system sampled	in-vessel	in-vessel	Aerated static pile	Aerated static pile
sampling methodology	one bin sampled at five different locations, each location corresponded to a compost age	one bin sampled at five different locations, each location corresponded to a compost age	one bin was sampled at four different days. Each day corresponded to a compost age	one bin was sampled at four different days. Each day corresponded to a compost age
plant assay	seedling study and established turfgrass study	seedling study	seedling study	seedling study
analysis on solid compost	TS, VS, pH, Oxup, pathD, pathR, TC, TKN,	TS, VS, pH, Oxup, pathD, pathR, TC, TKN,	TS, VS, Oxup, pathD, pathR	TS, VS, Oxup, pathD
analysis on water extracts	TOC, TKN, orgN	TOC, TKN, orgN	TOC, TKN, orgN	TOC, TKN, orgN

TS- total solids; VS= volatile solids; pH= hydrogen potential; Oxup= oxygen uptake rate; pathD= pathogen indicators density; pathR= pathogen indicators regrowth; TC= total carbon; TKN= total Kjedhal nitrogen; TOC= total organic carbon; orgN= organic nitrogen.

đ

3.2.2 Hoosac composting facility

The Hoosac Water Quality District treatment plant is located in Williamstown, Massachusetts. It provides wastewater treatment for Williamstown, North Adams and part of Clarksburg.

The plant employs conventional activated sludge treatment. Primary and secondary sludges are co-settled in sedimentation basins. The combined sludge is then conditioned with lime, and dewatered using vacuum filters. The plant is staffed five days per week for two shifts per day. The vacuum filters typically operate continuously while the plant is staffed.

The dewatered sludge is taken by truck from the vacuum filters to the composting area every thirty minutes. The composting area is located in the front of the treatment plant. Wood chips are used as a bulking agent. The wood chips are added to the sludge and mixed in the truck, and then fed by a conveyor, from the truck into the composting bins. The ratio of bulking agent to sludge is 2:1 by volume.

Sludge is composted in enclosed aerated static piles in concrete bins. There are four bins. Each bin is 21.4 meters long, 4.6 meters wide and 3.7 meters high. Although one end of each bin is open, a sliding door covers the front part. Bins are covered by a common roof. Mechanical blowers force air through the compost piles in the bins via the air plenum. The blowers operate on a cyclic basis. A typical cycle is 15 minutes on-off. This procedure maintains sufficient aeration in the pile without cooling it below the thermophilic temperature range. Temperature probes inserted into the compost pile monitor the temperature in each batch. In addition to the on-off cycling, the blowers are periodically reversed. Each time the direction of air-flow is reversed, the air passes through different pathways in the pile. This increases the efficiency of the aeration process.

The sludge and bulking agent mixture is fed from the truck into the bin from the back. In the floor of each bin are two channels covered with gravel. These function as combination air plena and leachate drains. The leachate produced from the compost piles is recycled back to the plant.

It takes two to four days to fill a bin (approximately 460 cubic meters). The bins are filled and emptied sequentially. As a new bin is needed, the oldest batch is removed. A

front-end loader empties the bin via the open end. The residence time of a batch of compost is three to five weeks. Once the composting period is over, compost is trucked to an open field and dumped to form piles for the curing period. Compost remains in this area approximately one year₍₂₎.

3.3 Sample Collection and Processing

3.3.1 Holyoke composting facility

As mentioned above, samples for experiments 1 and 2 were collected from this facility. Sample's collection dates, for experiment one and two, were performed on June 6 and July 17, 1993, respectively. In each experiment, one bay was chosen and samples were taken at five locations along the bay. Samples were taken at 33, 40, 48, 55, and 61 meters (108, 132, 156, 180 and 200 feet) from the front end of the bay (61 meters being the end point). Table 3.2 presents information about sampling for experiments 1 and 2.

The compost mixture was sieved, on site by hand, with a screen containing 0.6 cm (1/4 inch) openings. Approximately five liters of sample where collected and stored in plastic containers from each location. In addition, using sterile equipment, approximately 200 grams of sample were sieved and placed into sterile bags for pathogen indicator analyses. Samples were kept cool in an insulated ice chest and taken to both the Environmental Engineering and Plant Pathology laboratories for analysis. For experiment 1, (June 1993 sampling), an additional thirty-two kilograms of sample from each location was collected for the established turftgrass study. Sieved samples were kept in plastic bags, and taken immediately to the Amherst Golf course for the established turftgrass assay.

3.3.2 Hoosac composting facility

Experiments 3 and 4 were run using samples from the Hoosac composting facility. Sample collection for experiment 3 was performed during November 1993, and for experiment 4 during March 1994. Since this is a batch process, the samplings were

Table 3.2

Sampling Dates at the In-vessel Composting Facility, Experiments 1 and 2 $\,$

Experiment	Sampling date	Sites sampled (from the front end of the bay) (feet)	Corresponding compost age (days)
1	June 6, 1993	108	10
		132	12
		156	15
	,	180	17
		200	19-20
2	July 17, 1993	108	10
		132	12
		156	15
		180	17
		200	19-20

performed at one bin over the entire composting process. Table 3.3 shows sampling dates for each experiment and the corresponding compost age.

Experiment 3

For experiment 3, samples were taken from bin number 1. The area sampled was the front part of the pile along the width of the bin (see Figure 3.1 a). A hole approximately 0.6m (2 ft) deep and 0.5 m (1.7ft) diameter was excavated. Using a sterile scoop, approximately 200 grams of sample were sieved, on site, through a sterile sieve 0.6 cm openings (1/4 inch). The sample was placed into a sterile bag for further pathogen indicator analysis. The rest of the sample was sieved on site and placed in five plastic containers, and kept in a cool chest until they reached the laboratory for analysis.

Experiment 4

For experiment 4, the sampling method was modified in order to achieve a better (more representative) sample of the compost batch. On this occasion, a composite sample was obtained covering a larger portion of the pile. The area considered for sampling was approximately 3 m (9 ft) wide and 4 m(12 ft) long, and corresponded to the same loading(see Fig 3.1 b). The composite sample consisted of samples taken from 8 different sites along the area. The area was randomly divided into 8 different sections from which samples were taken. At each site chosen, a hole of approximately 0.30 m (~1 foot) diameter and 1-1.30 m (3-4 ft) of depth was excavated. Temperature was recorded at each site, and a qualitative visual description of the compost was noted: dry, semi-dry, and wet. Once the hole was excavated, approximately 200 g of sample were deposited into a sterile plastic container, using a sterile scoop. This sample was used for pathogen indicator analysis. For the rest of the analyses, approximately three full shovels of sample at each hole, were placed into a plastic bag. The excavated holes were refilled and their location recorded. Both, the container, and plastic bag were taken to the environmental engineering laboratory for further processing. Once in the environmental engineering laboratory, samples for pathogen determination were sieved using a sterile sieve (0.6 cm openings), deposited into a sterile plastic bag, and kept in the refrigerator at 4 °C. Pathogen analyses

·	Sampling date	Compost age (days)
Experiment 3	11-01-93	10
	11-05-93	15
	11-12-93	21
	11-19-93	28
Experiment 4	3-28-94	5
	4-05-94	13
	4-12-94	20
	4-19-94	27
	4-26-94	34

Table 3.3

Sampling Dates at the Aerated Static Pile Composting Facility, Experiments 3 and 4



Figure 3.1 Area Sampled at Hoosac Composting Facility.

a) Experiment 3, b) Experiment 4.

were performed the day after the samples were collected. Samples from the plastic bags were also mixed and sieved through a 0.6 cm sieve. Approximately four liters of composite sample were stored in plastic containers at 4° C. After 24 hours, two liters of composite sample were taken to the Plant Pathology laboratory for phytotoxic studies. The rest of the sample was used for the stability analyses.

3.4 Sample Analyses

3.4.1 Stability analyses

Compost samples in solid phase and their water extract solutions were analyzed to determine the following parameters. Analyses on solid phase included: total and volatile solids, pH, oxygen uptake, pathogen indicators, and C/N ratio. Analyses of water extract solutions included: total organic carbon(TOC), ammonia, and total Kjeldahl nitrogen(TKN) determinations. A description of the methodology used for each determination is presented.

3.4.1.1 Analyses on solid phase

3.4.1.1.1 Total and volatile solids

Total solids determination was performed according to <u>Standard Methods</u> $2540B_{(1)}$. For volatile solids determination, a modified <u>Standard Method</u> $2540E_{(1)}$ was followed. The modification consisted of a preliminary controlled firing of samples with a Bunsen burner before placing the samples in the muffle furnace. This modification was done to avoid errors because of the physical or mechanical losses due to decrepitation during the combustion at 550 °C₍₄₁₎, as well as to control the furnes.

3.4.1.1.2 Oxygen uptake rate

For experiment 1, oxygen uptake was determined by using a constant pressure respirometer as described by Haug *et al.*₍₂₆₎. Figure 3.2 shows a diagram of a similar system₍₂₆₎ to one used. For experiments 2, 3, and 4, oxygen uptake rate was



Figure 3.2 Scheme of a Constant Pressure Respirometer₍₂₆₎ Used During Experiment 1.

43

i

determined, by a "Comput-Ox" respirometer, N-Con System Co., constant pressure respirometer. Figure 3.3 represent a schematic system₍₃₆₎ of a "Comput-Ox" respirometer. Using this instrument, oxygen uptake rate was estimated by computing the volume of oxygen consumed by the compost samples during 48 hours. For each sample, twenty-five grams of compost (wet weight) were placed into a 500 ml reactor, and filled to 300 ml with distilled water. Reactors were provided with a small plastic container in which approximately one gram of potassium hydroxide pellets were placed. This alkaline compound, reacted with any carbon dioxide being produced therefore not disturbing the initial volume of gas₍₄₎. Reactors were incubated for 48 hours at 24 °C, and mechanically agitated by a magnetic stirrer. The volume of the oxygen consumed was recorded on a personal computer every half hour, although the volume is recorded every time the valve opens and more O_2 comes is added.

3.4.1.1.3 Pathogen indicators

Total coliforms and fecal coliforms (*E. coli*) were enumerated by Most Probable Number (MPN) procedure using Colilert test procedure described by Edberg *et al.*₍₁₃₎. This method has been approved for drinking water analysis. An initial comparison between the Colilert test procedure with the traditional method was performed. It was found that the Colilert method was equivalent to the traditional method when determining total coliforms and *E.coli* from compost.

Regrowth potential of pathogen indicators

Approximately 50 grams of each compost sample were placed in a 250 ml Erlenmeyer flask, covered with a cotton stoper and incubated at 37 °C. Sample moisture content was determined and adjusted to 50 percent before incubation. For each sample, three flasks were filled with compost sample, each one corresponding to a incubation period of 7, 14 and 21 days respectively. After the corresponding incubation period, flasks were removed from the incubator and approximately 2 grams of sample were taken for total coliforms and *E.coli* determination.



Figure 3.3 Scheme of a Constant Pressure Respirometer₍₃₆₎ Used During Experiments 2, 3 and 4.

3.4.1.1.4 pH

A volume of approximately 300 ml of sample was placed in a beaker, and miliQ filtered water was added until sample was covered by water. pH was determined by using a pH glass electrode. For experiments 1 and 2 a Fisher Accumet pH meter model 630 was used.

3.4.1.1.5 Ammonia content

Ammonia content was determined from compost solid phase by macro Kjeldahl method as described in <u>Standard Methods</u>, 4500- $N_{org} B_{(1)}$

3.4.1.1.6 Total Kjeldahl nitrogen

Total nitrogen was determined by macro Kjeldahl method as described in <u>Standard</u> <u>Methods</u> 4500- $N_{\alpha rg} B_{(1)}$

3.4.1.1.7 Organic nitrogen

Organic nitrogen was determined by subtracting ammonia concentration from the total nitrogen concentration.

3.4.1.1.8 Total carbon

Total carbon (TC) in solid phase was determined by calculating the 55 % of volatile solids according with Golueke *et al.*₍₂₂₎.

3.4.1.1.9 C/N ratio

The C/N ratio in solid phase was calculated by dividing the total carbon concentration by the total Kjeldahl concentration according to Golueke *et al.*(22).

3.4.1.2 Analyses on water extract

Water extract was prepared based on the method described by Chanyasak and Kubota₍₅₎. One hundred and fifty milliliters of miliQ filtered water, at 60°C, was added to thirty grams of compost. The suspension was mechanically mixed for 30 minutes with a magnetic stirrer. Then, suspensions were vacuum filtered through Watman No.1 filter paper and then through a sterile membrane (0.45 μ m pore size). A water extract solution

(1/10 dilution) was prepared for analysis. Samples were adjusted to a pH equal to 4, and stored at -4 °C until total organic carbon and nitrogen determinations were performed.

3.4.1.2.1 Ammonia content

Ammonia content was determined from the water extract solution by the Direct Nesslerization Method, as described in <u>Standard Methods</u>, 4500- $NH_3 C_{(1)}$. Ammonia determinations were performed using water extract solutions previously defrosted (see water extract solutions above). Absorbance readings were performed at 450 nm wavelengh using an one centimeter path light in a Hewlett Packard Diodo array spectrophotometer. A standard curve was prepared every time samples were measured.

3.4.1.2.2 Total Kjeldahl nitrogen

Total nitrogen Kjeldahl (TKN) was measured from the water extract solution. Water extract solutions were first digested following the 8075 Hatch Kjeldahl method₍₂₇₎ to convert organic nitrogen to ammonia. Once samples were digested, pH was adjusted to a value of 4, and stored at -4 °C in clear glass bottles sealed with parafilm. Ammonia levels were determined by Direct Nesslerization method as described above.

3.4.1.2.3 Organic nitrogen

Organic nitrogen was determined by subtracting ammonia concentration from the total nitrogen concentration.

3.4.1.2.4 Total organic carbon

Total organic carbon (TOC) was measured from the water extract solution by the "combustion infrared method", as per <u>Standard Methods</u> 5310 $B_{(1)}$. Water extract solutions were prepared as described above. Water extract solutions were defrosted and pH was reduced to a value of 2 with sulfuric acid. Samples were purged with nitrogen purified gas for about five minutes before samples were injected to the TOC analyzer. A Dohrmann carbon analyser was used for this measurement.

3.4.1.2.5 C/N ratio

C/N ratio in water extract was calculated as described by by Chanyasak and Kubota₍₅₎, by dividing the TOC concentration by the organic nitrogen concentration.

3.4.2 Phytotoxicity studies

In order to determine compost phytotoxicity, plant assays were performed using samples obtained during the experiments. The goal of the plant assays was to determine the effects of compost maturity on turfgrass. Two different assays were performed: 1) to determine the effect of compost on turfgrass seeds (seedling study) and, 2) to determine the effect of compost on established turfgrass (established turfgrass study). A detailed description of both studies is presented in the following section.

3.4.2.1 Seedling study

The objective of this study was to determine the phytotoxic effects of compost on three different turfgrass species seeds when compost was used as a growth media. Compost samples of different ages, collected during each of the four samplings were used. Thus there were four different seedlings studies in total. The parameters considered to evaluate the phytotoxic effects were: percentage of germination, percentage of ground cover, germination delay, and fresh clipping weight. Three different turfgrass species were tested: Kentucky bluegrass(kbg), (*Poa pratensis* L.), creeping bent grass(cbg), (*Agrostis palustris* Huds.), and tall fescue (tf), (*Festuca arundinacea* Schreb.) These three species represent different turfgrass qualities: tall fescue is best known as good utility turfgrass; and creeping bent grass is a fine textured grass that is the mostly used for golf and bowling greens. Kentucky blue grass falls in between the other two grasses. To show the differences among these species, some distinguishing characteristics are summarized in Table 3.4.

The following cultivars were used: a bacron cultivar for Kentucky blue grass, a Penncross cultivar for creeping bentgrass and a tall fescue cultivar. Pots were prepared in the following manner: square pots 5 cm by 5 cm by 5 cm (2 inch by 2 inch by 2 inch),

Table 3.4

Differences Among Turfgrasses Species(47).

Characteristic	Characteristic range ranking		Species			
Establishment rate	fast to slow	Kentucky blue grass 3	Creeping bent grass 2	Tall fescue		
Leaf Texture	coarse to fine	2	3	1		
Shoot Density	high to low	2	1	3		
Cold Tolerance	high to low	2	1	3		
Heat tolerance	high to low	· 3	2	1		
Drought tolerance	high to low	2	3	1		
Soil Acidity Tolerance	high to low	3	2	1		
Submersion Tolerance	high to low	3	1	2		
Salinity tolerance	high to low	3	1	2		
Mowing height	high to low	2	3	1		
Mowing quality range	good to poor	1	2	3		
Fertility requirement	high to low	2	1	3		
Disease potential	high to low	2	1	3		
Thatching tendency	high to low	2	1	3		
Wear resistance	high to low	1	2	2		
Recuperative Capacity	high to low	2	1	3		

Ranking numbers: 1 to 3, being 1= faster, higher, coarser, better.

were filled with compost for each treatment in triplicate. Each treatment corresponds to one of the compost ages in each experiment. For controls, grace-saerra and metromex were used as cultive earth. Distilled water was added to each pot until the water began to drain. Using a fork, lines where traced into the surface and seeds were scattered. Surfaces were smoothed using the base of a beaker. A specific amount of seeds of each cultivar were added to the pots. **Table 3.5** shows the amount of the three different cultivar seeds that were added to the pots. Pots were arranged randomly in a "convaron" incubator at 24 °C. Pots received periods of light lasting 14 hours during the day (at 24 °C), and 10 hours during night (at 16°C). Pots were moistened twice a day.

Table 3.5									
Seedling Study Data									
Tall fescue	Kentucky blue grass	Creeping bent grass							
1	0.5	. 0.1							
500	1450	1364							
34	91	85							
	a 3.5 tudy Data Tall fescue 1 500 34	a 3.5tudy DataTall fescueKentucky blue grass10.550014503491							

A description of the parameters determined is presented in the following sections:

Germination delay, pots were observed twice per day for any signs of germination. Once a germination sign was noticed, the date was recorded.

Percentage of Germination: Determinations were made during the second and third week of the incubation period. A plastic plate with a square perforation of one square inch was placed on the surface of each pot. By placing the perforated square on the surface, this area was isolated from the rest of the pot. Once the plate was placed, germinated seeds were enumerated. The percentage of germination was calculated by using both the numbers of seeds contained per square inch and the amount of seeds

germinated in the area observed.

Ground cover: this parameter was determined at the third and four weeks of the incubation period. The percentage of groundcover was determined by a visual estimation of the area covered in each plot.

Yield measured as clipping weight: clippings were obtained by cutting the grass up to the rim of the pot. Except for clippings of experiment one, weights were determined by weighing fresh clippings without previous drying. For experiment one, fresh clippings were dried at 60 °C for 24 hours, and then weighed. However, this procedure resulted in inaccurate observations because of the low weights recorded as well as problems presented when managing dried samples. Therefore, it was discontinued for the remaining experiments.

3.4.2.2 Established turfgrass study

This assay evaluated the impact of compost when applied to established turfgrass. Samples from the first sampling collection, at the Holyoke composting facility, were used (experiment 1). The study was similar to the one performed by Schumann et $al_{(42)}$. Established turfgrass study tried to confirm those results (by Schumann et al.) as well as to study the effects of compost on established turfgrass at higher loadings. Compost was collected and processed as previously described in section 3.3.1. Compost samples where then applied to an established turfgrass at the Amherst Golf course on June 6, 1993. Experimental plots were arranged in an established Kentucky blue grass (Proa pratensis L.) cultivar. The turfgrass was established on silt loam soil with a pH of 6.1, and was maintained under standard management practices. The area was mowed every seven days at a cutting height of 6.4 cm. Applications of compost at two different rates of each of the five compost maturity levels were made to 1 m (3ft) by 3 m (9 ft) plots that were arranged in a randomized complete block with four replications. The low rate of application was 9,773 kg ha⁻¹ (200lbs/1000ft²) and the high rate of application was 24.434 kg ha⁻¹ (500lbs/1000ft²). The compost was evenly distributed to each plot by hand. In order to obtain yield samples, a collection of clipping samples were performed. Clipping samples were obtained after mowing them from a standard strip lengthwise through the center of

each plot. Once the clippings were collected, the rest of the plots were mowed in the same way. Fresh clippings were dried at 60°C for 24 hours and weighted. In addition to the yield determination, a qualitative examination of the compost effects on turfgrass quality was performed. The qualitative determination consisted of the observation of color, and thatch. Observations were made both among the plots with different compost age applications as well to determine the effects of the two different rates. The experimental plots were observed daily for phytotoxicity, color and growth effects following application. Using a standard color rating scale, all treatment plots were evaluated on a scale of one to five (assigning number 1 to the control and 5 to the best performance).

3.5 Statistical analyses

3.5.1 Stability parameters analyses

Pearson's correlation coefficients between the stability parameters were determined by Pearson product method using SSPS® software. Correlation coefficients were considered significantive at either p<0.1, p<0.05, or p<0.01. Linear regression coefficients were determined by the least squares method using Sigma Plot® software.

3.5.2 Phytotoxicity studies

Completely randomized designs were used in all plant bioassays. Plant assay results were compiled and subject to statistical analyses, in order to determine if there was a significant difference between the turfgrass ammended with compost of different ages and controls. An analyses of variance was performed using a multiple comparison procedure by Duncan's multiple test for variables method with "SAS®" statistical sofware. Separation of means was based on the least-significant difference by Duncan's method ($\alpha = 0.05$). For the turfgrass seedling study, statistical analyses were performed in two different ways: 1)Analyses of variance using the average of the three turfgrass species to determine the significant differences among compost of different ages in each turfgrass species.

4. Results

The present chapter includes the results and analyses of the four experiments performed, including stability analyses and plant assays. Results of experiments 1 and 2 are presented in section 4.1, since these samples were obtained from a different composting system than experiments 3 and 4. Section 4.2 includes results of the aerated static pile samples.

4.1 In-Vessel Composting Samples: Experiments 1 and 2

4.1.1 Sampling

As previously mentioned in section 3., samples for experiments 1 and 2 were collected in June and July 1993 respectively, at the in-vessel composting facility, in Holyoke, MA. Sampling methodology followed for both experiments was the same. Samples were obtained from 5 different positions along the bay, each one corresponding to a different composting age. In order to be consistent with experiments 3 and 4, these samples will be referenced in terms of their corresponding composting ages in the following sections.

4.1.2 Stability parameters

Tables 4.1 and 4.2 present a summary of the stability parameters determined from the samples collected during experiments 1 and 2 respectively. Results from the stability analyses include: analyses on solid compost, analyses on water extracts, and pathogen indicator determinations.

4.1.2.1 Analyses on solid compost

The initial moisture content of the compost at the Holyoke Composting facility was around 60%. Sample moisture analysis determined along the bay during experiment 1 and 2, showed moisture levels were drastically reduced throughout the composting process to critical points of dryness. Figures 4.1A and 4.2A, show the corresponding graphs for total solids changes observed in compost samples in experiments 1 and 2 respectively. As can be observed in both graphs, a continuous drying of the compost was observed along the bay, resulting in an increase in percent total solids. For both experiments, total solids levels were higher than the optimal 40-60 %. In particular for experiment 2, a 78 % total solids was measured in 12 days old compost. Thus indicates that the microbial activity in the initial phase was highly moisture limited. Total solids percentage in both experiments decreased at points in the bay because water is added occasionally to the process in order to increase moisture levels. However, it seems that compost moisture content is not well controlled.

Volatile solids percentages in both experiments displayed a unusual pattern. **Figure 4.1B** and **4.2B** show volatile solids percentages determined in compost samples during experiments 1 and 2 respectively. For experiment 1, volatile solids percentages decreased in compost 10, 12 and 15 days old, as it would be expected. However, for samples 17 and 20 days old, volatile solids percentage are significantly increased. Similarly in experiment 2, volatile solids percentage increased except in the sample 12 days old. Such behavior is most likely due to sludge loading variation as well as problems in the sampling procedure. Due to the heterogeneous nature of the mixture it was difficult to obtain a representative sample.

TABLE 4.1

Summary of Compost Stability Parameters, Experiment 1(a)

a) Analyses on solid compost

Sample age (days)	Sample distance (m)	total solids (%)	volatile solids (Total C* %of	NH3-N <u>T</u> otal	N TKN Solids)	рН	Total C/TKN	Oxygen uptake rate (mg O2/kg TS-hr)
10	33	55.9	74.5	41	0.31	1.74	7.85	23.6	241
12	40	63.5	72.3	39.8	0.35	1.78	7.95	22.4	368
15	48	60.4	70	38.5	0.36	1.73	8.06	22.3	131
17	55	67.8	73.3.	40.3	0.36	1.78	7.71	22.6	23
20	61	70	78.9	43.4	0.37	1.83	7.43	23.7	283
				* considering	g total C as	the 55% of volati	le solids		

b) Water Extract Analyses

Sample age	Sample distance	тос	NH3-N	TKN	org N	TOC/org N			
(days)	(m)	(mg / g dry weight)							
10	33	24.7	2.71	6.19	3.48	7.1			
12	40	33.4	3.6	8.07	4.47	7.5			
15	48	29.6	2.89*	5.01*	2.12	13.7*			
17	55	21.7	2.4	4.89	2.49	8.7			
20	61	16.9	1.95	4.08	2.13	7.9			

* This result is doubful

c) Pathogen indicators

Sample age	Sample distance	Tota	al coliform: weeks	S	Fecal wee	coliforms) eks	(<u>E. coli)</u>
(days)	(m)	0	1	4	0	1	4
			(MPN	of c	ells / g d	ry weight)
10	33	4.26e3	3.8e2	1.35e6	2.3e2	3.0e1	3.0e1
12	40	2.0e2	8.0e7	1.0e7	2.0e2	1.9e2	3.0e1
15	48	8.2e4	4.0e8	2.5e6	2.0e2	2.1e2	3.0e1
17	55	2.3e3	6.0e8	1.0e8	3.0e1	3.0e1	3.0e1
20	61	5.9e4	3.0e8	1.0e8	3.0e1	3.0e1	3.0e1

(a) Holyoke Composting Facility, June 1993

TABLE 4.2

.

Summary of Compost Stability Parameters, Experiment 2 (a)

÷

				a) Analy	ses on s	olid com	post		
Sample age (days)	Sample distance (m)	total solids (%)	volatile solids (%	Total C*	NH3-N otal So	TKN lids)	pH -	Total C/TKN	Oxygen uptake rate (mg O2/kg TS-hr)
10	33	63.7	64.2	35.3	.49	1.79	7.51	19.9	454
12	40	78	56	30.8	.38	1.60	7.4	19.3	299
15	48	76.5	59.2	32.6	.42	1.55	7.45	21.0	222
17	55	72.4	60.6	33.3	.37	1.73	7.85	19.2	335
20	61	72.5	64.1	35.3	.39	1.74	7.7	20.3	185
				* considering	g total C as th	e 55% of vol	atile solids		

b) Water Extract Analyses

Sample	Sample	тос	NH3-N	TKN	org N	TOC/org N
age	distance					
(days)	(m)	(1	mg/g dry	weight)		_
10	33	26	3.14	6.35	3.21	8.10
12	40	20.8	2.19	4.09	1.90	10.95
15	48	17.9	2.24	4.13	1.89	9.47
17	55	21.7	2.69	5.37	2.68	8.10
20	61	20.1	2.71	5.05	2.34	8.59

c) Pathogen indicators

Sample	Sample	Total coliforms weeks			Fecal coliform <u>(E.coli)</u> w e e k s			
age	distance							
(days)	(m)	0	1	4	0	1	4	
		(MPN of	cell / g	dry weight)	<u> </u>	
10	33	1.8e2	4.6e6	2.2e7	3.0e1	4.6e6	2.2e5	
12	40	2.9e2	8.2e6	2.1e4	3.0e1	1.0e2	8.6e3	
15	48	2.5e7	1.1e8	4.3e3	1.2e2	8.0e1	2.3e3	
17	55	1.6e2	2.5e8	3.9e4	3.0e1	2.5e6	3.9e5	
20	61	1.7e2	1.0e6	1.5 e 4	3.0e1	8.0e1	1.5e3	

(a) Holyoke Composting Facility, July 1993



Figure 4.1 Compost Stability Parameters, Experiment 1
A) Total solids percentage, B) Volatile solids percentage, C) C/N ratio of water extract,
D) pH of solid phase, E) C/N ratio of solid phase, F) Oxygen uptake rate.



Figure 4.2 Compost Stability Parameters, Experiment 2
A) Total solids percentage, B) Volatile solids percentage, C) C/N ratio of water extract,
D) pH of solid phase, E) C/N ratio of solid phase, F) Oxygen uptake rate.

The results of the pH measurements are presented in Figure 4.1D and 4.2D for experiments 1 and 2 respectively. pH was in the range of 7.4-7.85 during experiment 1, and during experiment 2 was in the range of 7.43-8.03. These ranges and trends are typical for a normal composting process.

The C/N ratio of solid compost did not appear to be a good indicator of decomposition as can be seen in Figures 4.1 E and 4.2 E. C/N ratios were different in both experiments, registering in the range of 28-30 for experiment 1, and 24-29 during experiment 2. The expected decreasing trends in C/N ratios were not observed in either experiment 1 or 2, and C/N ratios were relatively high in comparison with the ratios previously reported for sludge compost₍₅₎.

Oxygen uptake rates for experiments 1 and 2 are presented in Figures 4.1F and 4.2F, respectively. As can be seen, these trends are not similar to each other, which can be explained as follows. First, it is important to recall that the instrument for determining oxygen uptake rate for experiment 1 differed from the one used in experiment 2. Oxygen uptake for experiment 2, was determined using an automated constant pressure respirometer over a 48 hours period, while for experiment 1, a less sophisticated constant pressure respirometer was used over a 24 hour period (see section 3.3). Although both instruments are capable of measuring oxygen uptake, there were some difficulties with the constant volume respirometer used in experiment 1. For instance, it was difficult to equilibrate the system, which can result in erroneous readings. In addition, it was difficult to maintain constant agitation in the reactor which could lead to poor oxygen transfer. Also, since oxygen must be added manually to the system, there are times when oxygen becomes limiting and thus an erroneous low uptake rate is measured. These difficulties could have contributed to the noticeable variance in oxygen uptake measurements. However, such variances could also be related to the differences in sludge composition discussed before. In any event, there was an overall decrease in oxygen uptake rate in both experiments.

Analyzing oxygen uptake rates of experiment 2, a clear decreasing trend (with the exception of 17 days old compost), can be correlated to the decomposition process. According to the parameters proposed by Wilson and Dalmot₍₅₂₎, compost with a oxygen
uptake of less than 100 mg 0_2 / kg hr can be considered mature for field application. Final compost from experiments 1 and 2 exceeded this level. Cumulative oxygen uptake determined in experiments 1 and 2 is shown in Figure 4.3 A and 4.3 B, respectively. As mentioned above, oxygen uptake measurements for experiment 1 were performed for 24 hours of incubation. Oxygen uptake was monitored for 48 hours during experiment 2. As can be seen, for experiment 2, oxygen consumption was delayed for almost five hours. This could be due to dryness, since once the sample was rewetted, a lag phase of five hours was required until the organisms began consuming oxygen.

Pathogen indicators

Densities of total coliforms and *E. coli* in each of the different compost ages as well as the results of regrowth potential are presented in Figures 4.4 and 4.5 for experiments 1 and 2, respectively. Total coliforms and *E. coli* densities measured in both experiments, were low in general (see Tables 4.1c and 4.2c). Lower densities are seen for experiment 2, which is most likely due to lower moisture levels. Particularly *E. coli* densities were low (less than 300 cell/g dw) in most of the samples analyzed in both experiments. For experiment 1 it can be observed that the MPN of total coliforms varied through the composting process. Conversely, during experiment 2, total coliform levels were almost constant with the exception of a spike in the 10 days old compost. This pattern of changes in indicator organisms also corresponds with the differences in moisture content observed in both experiments.

Although pathogen regrowth was not originally considered a stability parameter to be studied in this project, it was decided to perform these analyses with samples of experiments 1, 2 and 3. Figures 4.4 B-C and 4.5 B-C show the plots of the results of pathogen regrowth in experiments 1 and 2 respectively.

Except for 10 day old compost, all compost samples obtained from experiment 1, exhibited a considerable regrowth of total coliforms to a level of 6e8 cell/g dry weight after the first week of incubation. In general, there was not a significative decrease in densities after four weeks of incubation. *E.coli* regrowth was not observed in any of the samples. The highest population density was 2e2 cells/g dw after one week of incubation.



Figure 4.3 Cummulative Oxygen Uptake, Experiments 1 and 2

A) Experiment 1, B) Experiment 2.



Figure 4.4 Pathogen Indicators, Experiment 1

A) Pathogen indicators density, B) Total coliforms regrowth, C) Fecal coliforms regrowth.



Figure 4.5 Pathogen Indicators, Experiment 2

A) Pathogen indicators density, B) Total coliforms regrowth, C) Fecal coliforms regrowth.

After four weeks, *E.coli* density was less than 100 in all samples. Therefore, in terms of the pathogen indicator parameter, compost samples from experiment 1, were stable in terms of pathogens at both ambient levels and regrowth potential.

Total coliforms regrowth patterns in experiment 2 were somewhat similar to the ones obtained in experiment 1. Total coliforms showed a large increase in their densities (up to 2.5e8 cells/g dw) after seven days of incubation. After four weeks, total coliforms levels decreased in all compost ages to less than 4e4 cells/g dw, except for compost age 10 days which increased to 2e7 cells/g dw. Conversely with experiment 1, *E. coli* densities increased in all compost ages during the 4 weeks of incubation. For compost 10 and 17 days old, *E. coli* densities increased five orders of magnitude after 7 days of incubation. After four weeks, *E.coli* densities were higher than 1e3 in all compost samples. The regrowth is mostly likely due to low moisture levels during experiment 2, in comparison with experiment 1.

Regrowth of pathogens in compost is often related to available nutrients (14,23,30). Based on the regrowth results obtained, it can be said, that there was more substrate available in samples from experiment 2 than in experiment 1. Moisture management is very important for proper operation of a composting process. The dry condition in experiment 2 led to compost which showed low levels of *E. coli.*, but once moisture was added, the *E.coli.* regrew. In addition, a dry compost would have a low microbial population diversity. This would also lead to poor competition with *E. coli*. for available substrate, and encourgage regrowth.

Although all final compost samples comply with the requirement for class A quality in terms of pathogens₍₄₈₎, it is important to notice the great potential for regrowth. Regrowth, in the case of *E. coli* could be a great consideration in terms of product quality, since the 40 CFR 503 regulations require analysis to be performed near the point of use of the compost.

Based on the complexity of a compost system, sampling methodology is very important. Although sampling methodology used in experiments 1 and 2 did not present any technical problems during its performance, there may still be problems due to the

heterogeneity of the system. In addition, since this is a dynamic system, (sludge is fed every day) sludge characteristics vary from day to day.

4.1.2.2 Analyses on water extract

C/N water extract ratios were in the range of 8 to 14 along the composting process (see Figures 4.1 C and 4.2 C). Considering that a C/N in the range of 5 to 6, denotes stability₍₅₎, none of the samples, can be considered stable.

Water extract ammonia concentrations (see Figure 4.6B and 4.6D) in both experiments ranged from 0.20 to 0.35%. However, trends observed during the composting process in both experiments are not similar to each other. Ammonia concentrations during experiment 1 tended to decrease (except for compost 12 days), while ammonia levels were maintained during Experiment 2. TOC water extract determinations in in-vessel experiments, show a more predictable pattern during the process. For both experiment 1, and 2.19-3.14% dw during experiment 2. As can be seen in Figures 4.6A and 4.6C, TOC variations seem to correlate with the decomposition process.

4.1.2.3 Correlation between stability parameters and compost age

Pearson's correlation coefficients between the different stability parameters and composting time are presented in **Table 4.3**. In general, there was a poor correlation between the stability parameters and composting time in both experiments. Total solids and fecal coliforms were correlated with composting time during experiment 1 (**Table 4.3a**), while for experiment 2 there was no significative correlation between stability parameters and composting time (**Table 4.3 b**). As these table shows, there were cases in which some stability parameters correlated well among each other in both experiments. However, the correlations observed in experiment 1 are not the same as the ones observed in experiment 2, except for one case. In both experiments, total organic carbon and ammonia content in water extract presented a good correlation among each other.



Figure 4.6 TOC and Ammonia Content in Water Extract, Experiments 1 and 2
A) Total organic carbon content, and B) Ammonia content during Experiment 1;
C) Total organic carbon content, and D) Ammonia content during Experiment 2.

			,	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Table 4	4.3					
		Correlati	on Coeffic	ients ⁺ betv	veen Stabili	ity Parame	ters, Exp	eriments 1	and 2		
<u>_</u>	Cage	TS	VS	Oxup	TotC	FeC	C/Nsol	nH	C/Nwe	Am-we	TOC-we
a) Experi	ment 1			o nap				F	0,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		
C age	1										
TS	.8788*	1									
VS	.4390	.3899	1								
Oxup	.2995	1071	.3162	1							
TotC	.5064	.1317	0036	1125	1						
FeC	8904**	9019**	5238	.3751	0744						
C/N sol	.1325	0119	.9103**	.639	0267	2152	1				
pН	7067	6905	.9146**	0417	0127	.8289*	7056	1			
C/N we	.2223	0671	6143	5097	.7516	.1137	5837	.4799	1		
Am-we	7309	4637	7154	.3912	3267	.7479	6454	.8203*	.0409	1	
TOC-we	6917	5260	8359*	.2480	1300	.7904	7305	.9259**	.2824	.9671**	1
b) Experin	nent 2						<u></u>				
C age	1										,
TS	.3427	1									
VS	.2730	7941*	1								
Oxup	7637	7330	.1925	1							
TotĊ	.0282	.4049	2942	-,4093	1						
FeC	.0282	.4049*	2942	4093	1	1					
C/N sol	.7265	.0134	.5262	6513	1111	111	1				
pН	.6817	1902	.5099	0607	3924	3924	.2822	1			
C/N w	.2223	.4898	2931	4897	. 9620***	.9620***	0925	1578	1		
Am-we	1206	9685***	.8228**	.6219	5070	5070	.1344	.4099	5360	1	
TOC-we	5893	8743*	.4633	.9130**	6470	6470	2976	.0584	7374	.8169*	1

+ Pearson's correlation coefficient; * p<0.1, ** p<0.05, ***p<0.01 C age=compost age; TS=total solids, VS=volatile solids; Oxup=oxygen uptake rate; TotC= total coliforms; FeC= fecal coliforms; C/N sol= C/N ratio in solid phase; C/N we= C/N ratio in water extract; Am-we= ammonia content in water extract; TOC-we= total organic carbon in water extract.

4.1.3 Phytotoxicity studies

As previously mentioned in section 3.4.1.2, compost phytotoxicity in turfgrass seeds was determined in both experiment 1 and 2. In addition, a plant assay to determine compost effects on established turfgrass was performed using compost collected in experiment 1.

4.1.3.1 Seedling study, Experiment 1

Results from the seedling study using compost samples from experiments 1 and 2 were very similar. In general there was a negative effect of compost on turfgrass seeds, however no significant differences were observed among the different compost ages.

a) Average of the three species

An average of the effects on the three turfgrass (composite) species is presented in **Table 4.4**. From these results it can be seen that all compost treatments regardless of age, resulted in delayed germination, reduced percent germination, recuced percent ground cover, and reduced growth as measured by fresh weight of clippings. There was no difference between the phytotoxic effects among the different compost ages, except in the germination delay parameter. Samples corresponding to 10 days old, caused significantly more detrimental effects on seed germination delay, while effects of compost of 20 days old was less significantly severe. Differences among species were observed, as tall fescue was the least sensitive to the negative effects of compost treatments. Kentucky bluegrass was the most susceptible to phytotoxic effects.

b) By each species:

Effects of compost treatments on each species are presented in Table 4.5. A brief summary of the effects on each species is presented in the following paragraphs.

Kentucky blue grass (kbg) was severely affected by 10 day old compost, which almost tripled the time to first germination (in comparison with the control). During weeks 1 and 2, there were no differences in the effects on germination percentage caused by the different compost ages. However, at week 12 day old compost of was significantly less

	ampla	Days to	first germination		% Germina	ation				
age (days)	distance (meters)				w1		w2		w3	
Control		а	5.1		a	43.0	а	79.6	a	85.9
10	33	d	11.1		b	0.0	b	21.0	b	32.5
12	40	bc	8.9		b	1.3	b	27.2	b	40.5
15	48	bc	8.6		b	1.6	b	38.0	b	41.1
17	55	С	9.6		b	0.1	b	21.5	Ь	34.5
20	61	b	8.2		b	2.9	b	27.2	b	40
kbg		b	12.1		С	0.3	С	13.1	с	18.84
cbg		а	6.9		b `	9.7	b	33.6	Ь	44.4
tſ		a	6.9		а	14.4	a	60.4	а	74.4
		Clipping	weight (g)				% Groun	d cover		
S	ample									
age (days)	distance (meters)	w2		w3			w2		w3	
Control		a	0.572	а	0.927		a	90.6	a	95.4
10	33	b	0.105	ъ	0.357		b	33.9	b	35.0
12	40	b	-0.161	b	0.351		ь	27.8	b	39.4
15	48	Ь	0.175	b	0.427		Ь	37.8	b	48.3
17	55	Ь	0.114	Ь	0.378		b	29.4	b	40.6
20	61	b	0.146	b	0.354		b	28.3	ъ	36.1
kbg		ь	0.098	c	0.165		ь	27.8	b	41.7
cbg		b	0.153	Ь	0.262		a	47.5	а	53.3
ff		a	0.386	а	0.970		a	48.6	a	52.5

 Table 4.4

 Statistical Analyses of Seedling Study (by average of species), Experiment 1

means with the same letter are not significantly different

Duncan's Multiple test for variables, alpha=0.05, SAS

w=weeks

						Stati	stical	Analy	yses	of S	eedli	ng Si	tudy	(by spe	cies), E	xper	imen	t 1		
% Gerr Sam age d (days)	nination ple istance (m)	kbg w1		w2		w3			cbg w1		w2		w3		tf w1		w2		w3	
control		a	0.22	а	72.5	a	67.3		а	51.3	а	66.2	а	90.6	а	75.5	a	86.3	a	100
10	33	b	0	b	0.37	C L	3.6		b	0	b	20.4	b	28.2	b	0	а	42.1	b	65.7
12	40	Ð	0	b	1.06	b	19.8		D	0	ab	24.7	D	28.2	D	3.9	а	55.9	D	73.5
15	48		0	D	2.9	C L	6.4		0	0	ab	34.5	0	38.1	0	4.8	а	76.5	D	13.5
20	55 61	b	0	b	1.0	C	3.3		b	7	ab	27.4 28.6	b	50.2	b	1.9	a	52.9	b	66.6
Clippin Sam Ige d days)	g weight (g) ple istance (m)	kbg w1		w2		w3			cbg w1		w2		w3		tf w1		w2		w3	
ontrol		а	0	а	0.28	a	0.55		а	0.74	а	0.33	а	0.78	a	3.1	а	1.12	а	1.45
10	33	a	0	c	Ð	b	0.08		b	0	Ь	0.17	b	0.14	Ь	0.15	Ъ	0.2	Ь	0.85
12	40	а	0	Ь	0.1	b	0.1		b	0	b	0.11	b	0.17	b	0.19	Ь	0.28	b	0.79
15	48	а	0	Ь	0.06	b	0.09		b	0	b	0.13	Ь	0.18	b	0.22	ь	0.33	b	1
17	55	а	0	b	0.06	b	0.09		b	0	Ь	0.11	b	0.15	b	0.11	b	0.17	Ь	0.89
20	61	а	0.22	b	0.09	ь	0.08		b	0	b	0.12	b	0.15	b	0.1	b	0.23	b	0.83
6 Grou Sam	nd cover ple	kbg					cbg				tf									
nge d	istance	w2		w3			w2		w3		w2		w3			-				
days)	(m)		•																	
ontrol		а	96.7	a	100		а	90	a	95	а	85	a	91.7						
10	33	b	6.67	bc	18.3		b	43.3	b	45	¢	31.7	b	41.7						
12	40	b	20	b	45		b	30	b	35	bc	36.7	b	38.3						
15	48	Ь	18.3	, p	43.3		b	43.3	b	57,7	b	51.7	b	50						
17	55	D	13.3	bc	28.3		b	35	b	43.3	bc	40	b	50						
20	61	a	11.7	Ç	11.7		D	43.5	D	50	C	30	D	43.3						

Table 4.5

means with different letters are not significantly different

Duncan's Multiple test for variables, alpha=0.05, SAS

w=weeks

damaging than other compost ages. Severe effects were observed in the rest of the treatments, as a reduction of 91%, was determined. Compost of 12 days old was less negative in terms of germination percentage.

Percent ground cover ranged from 12% to 45% in compost treatments compared to 100% for the controls. In this case, significant differences were observed in weeks 2, and 3, 10, and 12 day old compost was the most toxic with respect to the other compost treatments. Growth differed significantly from the controls for all compost treatments for all clipping dates.

Creeping bent grass (cbg) controls averaged 91% percent germination at week three, compared with 28% to 50% germination in the compost treatments. No significant difference in effects on ground cover percentage among the different compost ages was observed in week 2, but in week 3 compost 12 and 20 days old, significantly caused the most detrimental effects by reducing ground cover by 40%. Seed germination was delayed by three days for the compost treatments and growth was significantly reduced at all clipping dates.

In the **tall fescue (tf)** treatments, percent germination was significantly affected in week 1 and 3 by all compost treatments which ranged from 66% to 75% germination as compared to 100% for the controls. However, compost treatments were not significant different among each other. At week 2, negative effects of compost ages were suppressed and no significant differences with controls was observed. Overall, percentage of germination was reduced by the compost by 25 to 30%. Percent ground cover after four weeks ranged from 35 to 50% in compost treatments, which was significantly less compared to 95% in controls. Germination was delayed by three days for the compost treatments. Growth did not differ significantly among the five compost ages, but was significantly less than the control at all clipping dates.

4.1.3.2 Seedling study, Experiment 2

a) Average of the three species

Results from the second plant study on turfgrass seeds, closely paralleled those of the first study. **Table 4.6**, summarizes the results of the plant study based on an average of the three species effects. Total values for percent germination and percent ground cover were lower throughout the experiment; perhaps the result of pots being allowed to dry out at a critical time. Percentage of germination was decreased to almost half of the controls in the seeds treated with compost with no significant difference among compost ages except at week 3. During week 3, 17 day old compost of was significantly the most harmful to seeds. Effects on ground cover at week 2 shows some sensitivity to compost age, as 17 day old compost was more harmful than 10 day old compost. However, these differences were no longer observed at week 3. Overall, **kbg** was the most sensitive species, followed by **cbg**.

b) By each species:

Results of the effects of the different compost ages on each turfgrass species are presented in **Table 4.7**. In general, for **kbg** and **cbg**, all compost ages produced negative effects on % of germination, clipping weight, and % of ground cover, but no significant difference was observed among the different compost ages.

Kbg germinated only 3% to 12% in compost treatments with no significant differences among them but significantly less than controls. Percent ground cover ranged form 4% to 12% in compost treatments, significantly less than 50% in controls. Percent ground cover ranged without significant difference from 40% to 80% in compost treatments as compared to 88% in controls. Growth as measured by fresh weight of clippings was severely limited by compost, but no significant differences among the compost ages was observed.

Cbg germinated between 40% to 70% in compost treatments as compared to 78% in controls. All compost caused a significant reduction of up to 45% in ground with respect to the controls. However at week 2 there were no differences between 10 days

		Statis	tical Analyse	s of See	dling Study	/ (by avera	ge of spec	ies), Expe	eriment
	· · · · · ·	% Germ	ination						
S	ample								
age	distance								
(days)	(meters)	w1		w2		w3			
Control		а	56.1	а	64.0	а	65.5		
10	33	b	29.6	Ъ	39.0	ab	53.4		
12	40	b	30.9	b	29.8	bc	38.8		
15	48	b	30. 6	b	23.5	bc	40.3		
17	55	ь	2501.0	ъ	29.7	С	33.6		
20	61	b	29.7	b	30.6	bc	42.0		
kbg		с	3.1	с	6.7	c	13.1		
cbg		b	37.0	b	41.3	b	49.3		
ť		а	60.9	а	60.3	а	74.8		
		Clipping	g weight (g)			% Groun	d cover		
S	ample								
age	distance								
(days)	(meters)	w1		w2		w1		w2	
Control		а	1.316	а	1.836	а	65.0	а	70.0
10	33	ь	0.232	а	2.921	Ь	34.7	b	45.0
12	40	b	0.292	а	0.437	cb	26.3	C	31.8
15	48	b	0.17	а	0.44	cb	25.3	C	43.9
17	55	b	0.113	а	0.243	С	19.8	С	27.3
20	61	Ь	0.285	а	0.483	cb	31.3	b	43.9
kbg		с	0	а	1.318	b	7.9	b	11.9
cbg		Ь	0.228 .	а	0.559	а	47.5	а	59.4
tf		а	0.9759	а	1.303	. a	45.8	а	53.9

 Table 4.6

 Statistical Analyses of Seedling Study (by average of species), Experiment 2

means with the same letter are not significantly different

Duncan's Multiple test for variables, alpha=0.05, SAS

w=weeks

•		% Gern	nination																
age (days)	nple distance (meters)	kbg w2		w3 ·		w4		w2	cbg	w3		w4		w2	tf	w3		w4	
control		·a	17.2	a	33.7	а	44.7	а	63.9	а	78.0	ab	57.6	а	87.2	а	80.9	а	94.1
10	33	b	0.3	b	1.1	b	9.2	ab	24.7	ab	48.2	а	69.8	a	63.7	ab	67.6	а	81.4
12	40	b	0.0	b	0.0	b	2.6	Ь	32.9	b	20.8	b	37.6	а	59.8	ab	68.6	а	76.4
15	· 48	b	0.0	b	0.3	b	11.4	ab	36.9	b	36.8	ab	49.8	а	54.9	a	33.3	а	59.8
17	55	b	0.7	b	2.2	Ь	0.3	b	24.3	b	34.9	b	39.6	а	50.0	ab	51.9	a	60.8
20	61	b	0.0	b	2.9	b	10.3	ab	39.2	ь	29.0	b	41.3	а	50.0	ab 	59.8	a	74.5
_	_	Clippir	ngs weig	ht (g)															
Sar	nple	1-h																	
age	distance	код					cog						π						
(days)	(meters)	WD		W4		w2		w3		W4		WZ		w5		₩4			
ontrol		а	0.521	а	0 772	а	0 905	а	2.05	а	2 11	а	3.04	а	2 88	а	19		
10	33	- b	0.007	ĥ	0.022	b	0.141	ĥ	0 475	5	0.609	Б	0.554	bc	0.948	b	1 15		
12	40	b	0.001	· Ď	0.014	Ď	0.089	b	0.196	6	0.222	Ď	0.786	bc	1.11	bc	0.91		
15	48	b	0.026	Ď	0.047	b	0.119	b	0.274	b	0.466	Ь	0.392	bc	1.02	b	1,18		
17	55	b	0.008	Ď	0.015	b	0.057	b	0.159	b	0.263	b	0.283	C	0.561	č	0.656		
20	61	ĥ	0.008	ĥ	0.058	ĥ	0.057	h	0 144	ĥ	0 273	Б	0 796	ĥ	1 29	hc	1.01		

Table 47

.

		% Grou	ind cove	r									
Sai age (days)	mple distance (meters)	kbg w2		w3		w2	cbg	w3		w2	tf	w3	
control		а	40.0	а	43.3	а	85.0	а	88.3	а	70.0	а	78.3
10	33	b	0.7	b	3.7	a	66.7	a	81.7	b	36.7	bc	50.0
12	40	b	0.7	5	5.3	b	30.0	b	36.7	b	48.3	b	53.3
15	48	b	1.0	b	6.7	b	38.3	b	50.0	b	36.7	bc	45.0
17	55	b	1.0	b	5.3	ь	28.3	b	43.3	b	30.0	C	33.3
20	61	b	4.0	b	11.7	b	36.7	Ь	56.7	ab	53.3	ab	63.3

means with the same letter are not significantly different

Duncan's Multiple test for variables, alpha=0.05, SAS

w=weeks

and the control. Growth in compost treatments was significantly reduced at all clipping dates.

As in experiment 1, tf germination was not negatively affected by any of the compost ages. Percent ground cover ranged from 33% to 63% in compost treatments, significantly lower than the controls, but no significant differences among compost ages was identified. Growth in compost treatments was significantly less than the controls at all clipping dates.

4.1.3.3 Established turfgrass study, Experiment 1

As previously mentioned, effects of compost application on established turfgrass were evaluated by several quality parameters including growth, shoot density and color. As it was done with seedling studies results, a statistical analysis was performed to determine significant differences among controls and compost treatments. **Table 4.8** summarizes the results of the established turfgrass study.

As **Table 4.8** shows, there were significant differences in quality rating between controls and compost treatments, as well as among treatments. However, significant differences were not found to be correlated with either compost age or application rate. Overall, established turfgrass quality was enhanced by the application of compost at both low and high rates, and by compost of different ages. Although some phytotoxic effects were observed in some of the samples, there was no correlation with either compost age or application rate. Established turfgrass was much less sensitive to any inhibitory effects of unstable compost than seeds.

Results of this particular study, were consistent with the results obtained by Schumann *et al.*₍₄₂₎. They conducted a similar study in the summer of 1992, to determine the effects of compost application on established turfgrass. Sampling methodology as well as the managing of the samples were performed with the same methodology as we used in this study. Compost samples were obtained from the same composting facility (Holyoke, MA) as in this study. The compost was applied over established tall fescue, and over an

Table 4.8

Quality Rating* and Statistical Analyses of Established Turfgrass Study,

Experiment 1.

Sample	2	1 we	ek	2 weel	ks	3 we	eks	4 we	eks
(days) d	istance (m)								
	Low app	licatio	n (977	3 kg ha	1 ⁻¹)				
10	33	3.25	AB	2.75	AB	2.75	BC	2 .0	B
15	48	3.75	Α	2.75	AB	2.5	С	2.5	AB
20	final	3.00	AB	3.25	A	2.75	BC	2.0	B
			r					. •	
Н	igh applica	tion (2	4,434	kg ha ⁻¹))				
10	33	2.5	AB	2.0	AB	3.5	AB	3.25	AB
15	48	2.25	В	1.5	B	3.0	ABC	3.25	AB
20	final	2.75	AB	2.25	AB	3.75	Α	3.5	Α
Non treated, Contr	ol	2.5	AB	2.5	AB	2.25	С	2.0	В

*Quality rating comprises color, growth (determined as clipping weight) and density. Quality range is between 1 and 5, being 5 the best quality. Means with same letter are not significantly different

Duncan's multiple test method, $\alpha=0.05$

established mix of perennial ryegrass/Kentucky blue grass. The application rates they tested were a low application of 4,850 kg ha⁻¹ (100 pounds per 1000 ft²), and a high application rate equal to 9,700 kg ha⁻¹ (200 pounds per 1000 ft²). As can be seen, the high rate application was the same as the low rate application of this study. The results showed compost application enhanced established turfgrass quality but they did not observe a correlation between either compost age or application rate and quality enhancement. **Table 4.9** summarizes the results of the established turfgrass study conducted by Schumann *et al.*₍₄₂₎.

4.2 Aerated Static Pile Composting Samples: Experiments 3 and 4.

As it has been mentioned, experiments 3 and 4 were performed using samples from an aerated static pile at the Hoosac Facility in Williamstown, MA. This type of static system allowed the influence of variable sludge composition to be eliminated when evaluating the effect of composting time on stability parameters.

As previously described in section 3.3.2, sampling methodology for experiments 3 and 4 differed considerably between each other. Such difference complicates the comparison between the results obtained in both experiments. For that reason, results from experiments 3 and 4 will be presented separately.

There were some variations in the stability analyses performed with respect to experiments 1 and 2, including:

1) pH, total carbon and nitrogen concentrations, on the solid phase were not determined in experiments 3 and 4 samples. Total organic and nitrogen concentrations in solid compost from the previous two experiments did not seem to be reliable stability parameters. This has been observed in others studies in our laboratory₍₄₅₎. Thus, it was decided not to include these determinations for the next two experiments.

2) Pathogen regrowth measurements (in experiment 4) were not performed either, due to sampling and analysis constraints.

Sa	mple	Tall Fescue	Perennial ryegr bluegrass	ass/Kentucky
Distance(m)	age (days)	C	lipping yield (g/r	n ²)
		1 week	1 week	2 weeks
High application	rate (4,850 kg	ha-1)		
33	10	18.94 BCD	7.42 AB	6.00 A
40	12	19.28 BC	7.35 AB	6.35 A
48	15	20.79 B	7.22 AB	7.25 A
55 ·	17	25.58 A	9.11 A	6.81 A
61	20	21.71 AB	6.68 BC	5.69 A
Low application	rate (9,700 kg l	na-1)		
33	10	14.43 D	6.01 BC	7.74 A
40	12	16.13 CD	7.88 AB	6.48 A
48	. 15	14.31 D	7.09 ABC	6.93 A
55	17	20.77 B	8.10 AB	7.02 A
61	20	14.53 D	5.94 BC	7.05 A
	Control	9.49 E	4.84 C	5.64 A

Table 4.9

Results of Established Turfgrass Study* by Schumann et al.(4)

Means with same letter are not signicantly different

Duncan's multiple test for variables, $\alpha = 0.05$

.

* compost from Holyoke Composting Facility

· ---

4.2.1 Experiment 3

4.2.1.1 Sampling

Sampling methodology used during experiment 3, resulted in a non-representative sample of the composting bay. As previously mentioned, the area sampled was relatively small compared to the whole pile. Considering that a composting pile is quite complex and heterogeneous, sampling a small area would not allow a representative sample of the actual composting pile to be obtained. In addition, the constant removal of compost from the same site, may disturb the composting process for various reasons. To obtain the 5 liters for each sampling, required that approximately 20 liters of compost mix be screened. This volume may not be significant when the volume of compost in the whole pile is considered; however, it may be significant when the volume of the site sampled. Moreover, the excavation and then refilling of the hole again, could have provided extra aeration in that specific area in comparison with the rest of the pile. It was concluded that this sampling methodology was not appropriate. For this reason, it is quite possible that results obtained in this experiment are not representative. However, they are presented.

4.2.1.2 Stability parameters

4.2.1.2.1 Analyses on solid compost

A summary of the results of all stability parameters determined in samples from experiment 3, are listed in Table 4.10.

As shown in **Figure 4.7A**, total solids percentages of the samples, were in the range of 43-36% (57-64% moisture content). Conversely, as what would be expected in an optimal composting process, total solids did not increase with time. Particularly in samples collected at the end of the composting process (21 and 28 days), moisture levels

TABLE 4.10

Summary of Compost Stability Parameters, Experiment 3 (a)

а) Analys	es on sol	id compost		b) '	Water Ex	tract An	alyses
Sample age	Total solids	Volatile Solids	Oxygen Uptake	тос	NH3-N	TKN	N org	TOC/org N
(days)	(%)	(% TS)	(mg O2/Kg TS-hr)		(mg /	g dry we	ight)	_
10	41.5	53.3	323.09	5.065	1.153	2.716	1.563	3.24
15	42.6	55.2	353.52	4.35	0.864	4.722	3.858	1.13
21	37.4	56.3	408.29	4.8	1.8	4.366	2.516	1.91
28	37.0	53.4	187.70	5.74	2.082	5.541	3.430	1.66

c) Pathogen indicators

Sample age		Total coli weeks	forms		Fecal v	l coliforms v e e k :	s <u>(E.coli)</u> s	
(days)	0	1	2	3	0	1	2	3
	··		(MPNc	ells/g d	ry weight))		
10	1:2e5	1.9e4	3.5e3	3.5e2	1.9 e 4	1.9e2	3.0e1	3.0e1
15	3.7e5	3.7e4	3.4e2	2.0e3	3.7e4	2.0e2	3.0e1	4.0e1
21	7.0e6	7.0e3	5.6e2	1.1e4	1.7e5	1.7e3	3.0e1	3.0e1
28	6.9e3	3.2e2	3.0e1	3.0e1	6.9e2	3.0e1	3.0e1	3.0e1

(a) Hoosac Composting Facility, November 1993



Figure 4.7 Compost Stability Parameters, Experiment 3

A) Total solids percentage, B) Volatile solids percentage, C) C/N ratio in water extract,
D) Oxygen uptake rate, E) Total organic carbon content in water extract, F) Ammonia content in water extract.

were higher than expected. This was also confirmed during sampling by visual observations, in that some areas of the pile were dryer than others. Water drops falling from the ceiling were also observed. It is possible that, if inadequate aeration was applied during the process, water vapor could not be dispersed and thus condensed, and fell into the compost. This would result in wet areas of the pile.

Volatile solids percentage (see Figure 4.7 B), increased during the first 20 days of the composting process. However, volatile solids percentage of the oldest compost sample was almost the same as 10 day old compost. A similar trend was observed in the oxygen uptake rates. In this case, oxygen uptake increased during the first 20 days, then decreased drastically in the last sample (28 day old). Although oxygen uptake of the oldest compost sample (28 day old) was the lowest (as expected), the rest of the oxygen uptake measurements did not follow the expected trend.

Data for the cumulative oxygen uptake for experiment 3, are plotted in Figure 4.8. As it can be seen, oxygen uptake started to be consumed quickly (no lag phase), except for 10 day old compost, which demonstrated a lag phase of approximately 3.5 hours.

Both total coliform and fecal coliform populations increased during the first 21 days of the process. However, a large decline of both fecal and total coliforms was observed in 28 day old. The highest levels of total coliforms and *E. coli* during the composting period were 7e6 and 1.7e5 respectively (see **Table 4.10c**). After 28 days of composting, concentration of *E. coli* was 3e1, which complies with the Class A pathogen requirement limits₍₄₈₎. Regrowth results, are plotted in **Figures 4.9 B** and **4.9 C**. Unlike experiment 2, *E. coli* levels did not increase in any of the compost treatments during the incubation period. After one week of incubation, *E. coli* levels were lower than 1.7e3 cells/g dw in all compost treatments. In fact, *E. coli* levels were reduced to less than 100 cells/g dw after two weeks of incubation. Total coliform densities were reduced in all compost which increased one order of magnitude after 25 days of incubation. Total coliform levels in 28



Figure 4.8 Cummulative Oxygen Uptake, Experiment 3



Figure 4.9 Pathogen Indicators, Experiment 3

A) Pathogen indicators density, B) Total coliforms regrowth, C) Fecal coliforms regrowth.

days old compost, were the lowest detected among all compost treatments during the incubation period. Total coliforms in 28 day old compost after two weeks of incubation were less than 10e1 cells/g dry weight.

Pathogen indicator results compared favorably with the other stability results which showed a relatively higher stability of the oldest compost sample with respect to the rest of the treatments.

4.2.1.2.2 Analyses on water extract

C/N ratio in water extract determined for experiment 3 (see Figure 4.7 C), ranged from 3.2 to 1.5 in compost 10 and 15 days old respectively. According to criteria for compost stability suggested by Chanyasak *et al.*(5), all compost samples would be considered stable since their final ratios were less than the range of 5-6. However, this is not in agreement with the rest of the stability parameters determined.

Both, the ammonia levels (Figure 4.7 F) and TOC levels (Figure 4.7E) present similar trends, with an increase in their concentration after 15 days of composting.

4.2.1.3 Correlation between stability parameters and compost age

Pearson's correlation coefficients from experiment 3 are shown in **Table 4.11**. As this table shows, there is no significative correlation between the stability parameters and compost age. In addition, correlation between stability parameters was also poor. As has mentioned before, unrepresentative sampling methodology used in this experiment might be the cause of such results.

	-						, Enpen		
	C age	TS	VS	Oxup	TotC	FeC	C/N we	Am-we	TOC-we
C time	1								
TS	8588	1							
VS	0143	0567	1						
Oxup	5391	3193	.8077	1					
TotC	.1913	4895	.8036	.6695	1				
FeC	.0778	3567	.8678	.7686	.9886*	1			
C/N we	5235	.1084	.4790	.0470	0752	100	1		
Am-we	.8616	9920**	0691	4253	.3839	.244	0571	1	
TOC-we	.6023	6687	7044	8306	7044	.3944	.2756	.7556	1

	Table 4.11	
Correlation Coefficients ⁺	between Stability Parameters	, Experiment 3

٤.

+ Pearson's correlation coefficient; * p<0.1, ** p<0.05, ***p<0.01. C age=compost age; TS=total solids, VS=volatile solids; Oxup=oxygen uptake rate; TotC= total coliforms; FeC=fecal coliforms; C/N we= C/N ratio in water extract; Am-we= ammonia content in water extract;

TOC-we= total organic carbon in water extract.

4.2.1.4 Phytotoxicity studies

4.2.1.4.1 Seedling study

Some variations from experiments 1 and 2 were made in terms of observation dates. Measurements were taken on percent germination at 1, 2, and 3 weeks. Percent ground cover and fresh clipping weight were determined during weeks 1 and 2.

a) By average of species.

Overall, plant assays showed that there was a significantly negative effect of all compost age treatments, reflected as germination delays, reduction of percentage of germination and ground cover, and reduced growth (see **Table 4.12**).

Germination delay was not significantly different among compost treatments, which ranged between 11 and 18 days. Controls germinated significantly faster (6 days). Although germination percentage in all compost ages was significantly lower than controls, some significant differences were observed among compost ages. At week 1, there was still no germination in any of the youngest compost treatments. At week 2, compost ages 15 and 21 days averaged 20% germination, while compost age 28 was not significantly different from age 10 days (zero). During week 3, compost 15 days age was still the most significant differences between 15 and 21 day old compost 21 days old. At week 4, no significant differences between 15 and 21 day old compost were observed, in addition, both were significantly higher than 10 and 28 day old compost which were not different from each other. Differences among compost treatments were observed in growth observations. At weeks 2 and 3, 10 and 28 day old compost were significantly more harmful than the rest of the treatments. The same pattern, was repeated in ground cover observations, however at week 3, percentage ground cover of 15 day old compost was significantly higher than 21 day old compost.

As observed during experiments 1 and 2, a difference in sensitivity among species

.

	Days to	first germi	nation	a	% Germi	nation				
Compost age										
(days)					w2		w3		w4	
Control	а	6.7			а	54	а	69.2	-	-
10	b	18.6			d	0	d	11.6	b	15.8
15	ъ	11.1			b	22.3	b	47.1	а	42.9
21	b	11.7			cb	18.6	C	27.1	а	41.2
28	Ь	11.3			cd	7.5	dc	19.5	Ь	24.4
kbg	b	16.5			b	7.4	с	18.35	ь	20.4
cbg	а	8.3			а	31.3	b	38.5	а	32.3
tf	а	10.9			a	22.7	а	47.9	а	41.2
	Clipping	weight (g))			% Ground	i cover			
Compost age										
(days)	w2		w3			w2		w3		
Control	а	1.15	а	1.49		a	50.0	а	71.7	
10	С	0.002	C	0.02		С	0.7	d	11.1	
15	b	0.225	b	0.425		b	30.0	b	48.3	
21	cb	0.103	ъ	0.362		ь	20.9	C	30.6	
28	C	0.015	Ċ	0.122		c	7.3	ď	13.6 [.]	
kbg	C	0.075	с	0.188		с	7.9	С	21.1	
cbg	b	0.251	b	0.452		а	35.7	а	46.3	
tf	а	0.589	а	0.819		h	217	b	37.7	

Statistical Analyses of Seedling Study (by average of species), Experiment 3

Means with same letter are not significantly different

Duncan's Multiple test for variables, alpha=0.05, SAS

w=weeks

was also confirmed. In all the parameters measured, kbg performed significantly lower than the other two species. Tf and cbg were not significantly different in terms of days to first germination and percent of germination. Cbg performed better in percentage ground cover than tf. The opposite occurred in growth.

b) By each species

 Table 4.13 presents the results of the statistical analyses performed for each of the species during experiment 3.

Kbg. Germination delay in controls averaged 9 days, significantly lower than 10 and 15 day old compost treatments of, which averaged 21 days. With the exception of 21 day old compost at week 3, all compost treatments significantly reduced germination percentage during the observation period. Differences among effects of compost treatments on ground cover were observed during week 1. Compost ages 15 and 28 days old, were significantly more harmful than compost age 10 days old. Growth was significantly reduced by all compost treatments. No significant differences among compost ages was observed, except with 15 day old compost at week 2, which was significantly more toxic than the rest of the treatments.

Cgb. Both 10 and 15 day old compost, significantly delayed germination with respect to the controls and the rest of the treatments, which were not significantly different among each other. Percentage germination of controls during weeks 1 and 2 averaged 70%, significantly higher than the rest of the treatments which did not differ significantly from each other. At week 3, percentage germination in 10 day old compost was around 12%, significantly lower than the rest of the compost treatments, which ranged between 30 and 44 %. Considerable differences among compost treatments were observed during the first week of observation with respect to ground cover percentage. Compost 15 days age was not significantly different from the control which averaged 80%. Percentage ground cover in 21 day old compost (47%) was significantly less than controls, but significantly higher than 10 and 28 day old compost which did not differ significantly from each other. Such differences did not persist at week 2. All compost treatments significantly reduced growth in both weeks with respect to controls. No differences among the

				Stati	stica	al Ana	lyses	of S	ie 4.1 Séedli	រ ng ដ	Study	(by s	pecie	es), E	xpe	erimen	t 3			
	Days	to first	germi	ination																
Compost age (days)	kbg		cbg		ff															
Control	а	9	а	5.3	а	5.6														
10	Þ	21.7	b	16	C	18														
15	b	21	а	6	a	6.3														
21	ap	14	а	7	bc	14.														
28	ab	<u> 16 </u>	а	7	ab	10.3														
	% Ge	rminatio	on							-										
Compost age	kbg							cbg						1	lf					
(days)	w1		w2		w3			w1	,	w2		w3		Ŷ,	w1		w2	,	w3	
Control	а	0.22	а	0.39	а	0.39		а	0.74	а	0.74	a	0.82		а	0.67	а	0.67	а	0.86
10	Ь	0	Ь	0.04	b	0.1		b	0	b	0.04	C	0.13		b	0	bc	0.27	b	0.24
15	b	0	b	0.18	ab	0.26		Ь	0	b	0.32	b	0.44		b	0	b	0.35	а	0.79
21	a	0.13	þ	0.18	ab	0.24		b	0	b	0.36	ЪC	0.31		b	0	C	0.07	ь	0.32
28	b	0.02	b	0.13	b	0.2		b	0	b	0.15	bc	0.31		b	0	C	0.05	_b_	0.15
	Clippi	ings we	ight (g)						•										
Compost age	kbg					cbg					tf									
(days)	w1		w2			w1		w2			w1		w2							
Control	а	0.66	а	0.66		а	1.04	а	1.04		а	2.06	а	2.13						
10	b	0.01	bc	0.21		b	0.05	b	0.31		b	0.25	cd	0.36						
15	b	0.02	С	0.12		b	0.15	Ь	0.28		b	0.72	ъ	1.11						
21	b	0.19	ab	0.62		b	0.2	а	0.77		b	0.11	cb	0.7						
28	b	0.07	bc	0.19		b	0.08	b	0.19		b	0.04	_ <u>d</u>	0.22						
	% Gro	ound co	ver																	
Compost age	kbg					cbg					tf									
(days)	w1		w2			w1		w2			w1		w2				•			
Control	а	28.3	а	60		а	80	а	80		а	75	а	75						
10	ь	13.3	b	13.3		C	13.3	b	30		b	18.3	b	21.7						
15	c	0	b	11.7		а	70	b	50		а	63.3	а	63.3						
21	cb	10	b	25		b	46.7	ab	56.7		b	20	b	26.7						
28	C	1.33	b	7.33		C	21.7	b	41.7		b	11.7	b	16.7						

T-1-1- 4 49

Means with different letters are not significantly different

-Duncan's Multiple test for variables, alpha=0.05, SAS

w=weeks

treatments were observed, except for compost 21 days age at week 2, which was not significantly different from the controls.

Tf. Germination delay in controls averaged 6 days and was not significantly different to compost age 15 days old. The most harmful effect was observed in compost 10 days old with a delay of almost 18 days. Germination percent in controls during all observation periods was significantly higher than all compost treatments, except with 15 day old compost in week 3 which was not significantly different. At week 2, some interaction between compost age and severity of effects were observed, as compost of 21 and 28 day old were significantly more harmful than compost of age 15 days old. Compost of 15 days age performed the best during the two weeks of observation of ground cover percentage, and values were statistically equal to controls. Percentage ground cover in the rest of the treatments was significantly less than in controls, and no significantly less than the controls during week 1 and 2. No significant differences among compost treatments were observed at week 1, however during week 2, growth on compost age 28 days old was significantly less than on 15 day old compost.

4.2.2 Experiment 4

4.2.2.1 Sampling

There were five different sample collection dates during experiment 4. Originally, sampling dates were planned to cover the 28 days of the composting process which normally occurs at the Hoosac composting facility. However, due to processing problems with the sample obtained during the first sampling (5 days old), an extra sampling was added. The 5 day sample was too wet to be easily screened. Therefore, it was not possible to obtain a sufficient amount of sample necessary for seedling studies. However, it was possible to determine stability parameters, since the amount of sample required for these tests is relatively low. An extra sampling was added to obtain four separate plant assays. A request to the Hoosac composting facility was made in order to maintain the pile for one

extra week so that the last sample could be taken. Since the days for sampling were already established, the last sampling date corresponded to a composting time of 34 days.

As described in section 3.2.2, each composite sample corresponding to a sampling date, consisted of 8 different subsamples taken along the pile. Characteristics of the subsamples, such as temperature, visual moisture estimation, and subsample location in the pile during each sampling date, were recorded, and are summarized in **Table 4.14**.

Sites sampled during each sampling can be identified in Figure 4.10. The average temperature of sites sampled was in the range of 45- 61 °C. However, a variation among these sites can be observed during all sampling dates. Based on the observations during sampling, a relationship between the visual estimation and the temperature recorded can be determined. When compost seemed to be wet, high temperatures (60-70 °C) were recorded, while temperatures of 40-50 °C corresponded to compost samples considered dry. In addition, it was observed that sites corresponding with high temperatures and wet conditions, had an odor characteristic of the decomposition process. As can be seen in Figure 4.10 in general, sample sites characterized as "wet" were located in the center of the pile. During samplings, it was observed that some parts of the pile were wet from water drops falling from the ceiling. This suggests that the Hoosac composting facility may have some problems with aeration. Since water vapor was not dispersed, this vapor condensed on the ceiling and later produced water drops which fell from the ceiling into the compost.

Although there were differences among the subsamples, the final composite sample seemed to overcome such heterogeneity.

4.2.2.2 Stability analyses

4.2.2.2.1 Analyses on solid compost

Results of the stability analyses determined during experiment 4 are summarized in **Table 4.15**. These include analyses of solid compost, water extract, and pathogen indicators.

site number	compost age (days)									
,	5	13	21	28	34					
1	60 w	65 w	45 d	50 m	24 d					
2	50 w	50 m	40 m	50 d	50 d					
3	60 w	40 d	50 d	55 d	70 w					
4	60 w	40 d	30 d	70 w	55 d					
5	70 w	50 m	50 w	43 d	50 d					
6	60 w	50 m	65 w	50 d	70 w					
7	60 w	65 w	45 d	50 d	50 đ					
8	65 w	72 w	35 d	70 w	50 m					
					60 m*					
Average temperature	61	54	45	55	60					

Table 4.14Composite Sample Information, Experiment 4

* extra subsample.

Number in the left side, corresponds to Temperature in $^{\circ}$ C. Letters in the right side, corresponds to the visual estimation: w = wet; m = medium; d = dry.





Figure 4.11 A-F shows the different stability parameters determined during the composting process in experiment 4. From this figure it can be seen that, some stability parameter trends over the composting time are well correlated with composting age. The improvement in the sampling methodology is obviously seen in the trends displayed.

Total solids percentage increased as composting process progressed. Figure 4.11A. shows the total solids percentage during the 34 days of the composting process. Overall, an initial 47% percent of total solids, was increased during the composting process to 57%. Thus, compost moisture was always maintained in the range for optimal composting when averaged over the pile. However, as the subsample observations showed, there is heterogeneity in terms of water limitations or possible anaerobic conditions due to the excess of water in parts of the pile.

Volatile solids as seen in Figure 4.11 B, decreases with time, which is also an indicator of the decomposition process. As shown in this Figure, an overall reduction from 40.7 to 23.7% occurred.

Oxygen uptake measurements plotted in Figure 4.11 D, indicates a continuing maturation in the samples as the composting process progressed. There were no high temperatures or extreme low moisture conditions observed in any of the samples that could have inhibited the microbial activity. Therefore the drop in oxygen uptake rates must be related to the decomposition process, and therefore increasing stability of compost. Note that these rates are all higher than those which can be considered stable for horticultural uses (20 mg O_2 /kg hr) as suggested by Wilson and Dalmot (52). Cumulative oxygen uptake rates of all compost treatments are plotted in Figure 4.12.
TABLE 4.15

Summary of Compost Stability Parameters, Experiment 4(a)

	a) Analy	ses on s	olid compost	b) Water Extract Analyses							
Sample age (days)	Total solids (%)	Volatile Solids (% TS)	Oxygen Uptake (mgO2/kg TS-hr)	тос	NH3-N (mg / g	TKN dry weigt	N org nt)	TOC/org N			
5	47.3	40.7	333	5.70	1.015	1.914	0.899	6.3			
13	49.3	39.8	333	6.07	0.872	1.574	0.701	8.7			
20	53.8	32.7	280	4.08	0.507	0.874	0.367	11.1			
27	56.6	27.2	226	2.72	0.397	0.989	0.593	4.6			
34	58.9	23.7	223	3.06	0.540	1.215	0.675	4.5			

c) Pathogen indicators

Sample age	Total coliforms	Fecal coliforms <u>(E.coli)</u>						
(days)	(MPN_cells / g dry weight_)							
5	1.9e5	1.9e5						
13	1.8e5	3.4e4						
20	6.9 e 4	3.2e3						
27	3. 2e6	3.2e3						
34	9.8e4	2.8e1						

(a) Hoosac Composting Facility, March 19944



Figure 4.11 Compost Stability Parameters, Experiment 4

A) Total solids percentage, B) Volatile solids percentage, C) C/N ratio in water extract,
D) Oxygen uptake rate, E) Total organic carbon content in water extract, F) Ammonia content in water extract.



Figure 4.12 Cummulative Oxygen Uptake, Experiment 4



Figure 4.13 Pathogen Indicators, Experiment 4

A) Total coliforms density, B) Fecal coliforms density.

Pathogen indicator results are shown in Figure 4.13. Regrowth analyses are not included since they were not performed during this experiment. Total coliform and *E. coli* levels determined in this experiment, showed similar results compared to experiment 3 in terms of final pathogen numbers. As shown in Figure 4.13 A, total coliform densities were between 6.9e4 and 3.2e6 cells/g dw throughout the process. With respect to *E.coli* (Figure 4.13 B), a level of 1.9e5 at 5 days age decreased to 3.2e3 and 2.8e1 in compost 28 days old and 34 days old respectively This is well between the Class A level of 1e3 cells/g dw.

4.2.2.2.2 Analyses of water extract

C/N in water extract varied during the composting process with no specific trend. However C/N ratios of 28 and 34 day old compost were around 4, thus indicating the stability of these samples.

TOC and ammonia content in the water extract along thecomposting process are presented in Figures 4.11 E and 4.11F, respectively. As shown in both graphs, both TOC and ammonia displayed decreasing trends, and were relatively similar.

4.2.2.3 Phytotoxicity studies

4.2.2.3.1 Seedling study

a) By average of species

Results of the average response to compost of the three seed species are summarized in Table 4.16.

The number of days to first germination was significantly different due to compost ages. Thirteen and 27 day old compost averaged 12 and 11 days, respectively, and were significantly different from the control (8 days) but not from each other. Compost ages 20 and 27 days old, were not significantly different from 34 day old compost or from the control, but were significantly different from each other.

Percent germination at all weeks was significantly affected by compost treatments.

	Days to f	first germi	nation		% Germi	nation						
Compost age												
(days)					w1		w2		w3		w4	
Control	bc	8.4			ab	13.3	ab	30.0	а	54.4	a	78.1
13	c	11.8			С	0.0	C	10.9	b	21.6	p.	38.1
20	abc	9.2			а	20.1	а	44.2	а	53.4	а	77.8
27	bc	10.9			bc	8.4	bc	23.4	b	25.7	ь	30.6
34	а	6.9			а	18.3	bc	17.0	b	22.5	b	39.9
kbg	ь	12.5			Ь	0.0	с	6.7	b	21.5	b	33.9
cbg	а	8.1			а	19.0	b	27.8	а	38.2	а	56.0
កើ	a	7.8			а	17.1	а	40.6	а	46.8	а	68.8
	Clipping	weight (g)				6 Groun	d cover				
Compost age	_		_				_		_			
(days)	w2		w3				w2		• w 3			
Control	Ь	0.34	а	0.523			а	52.2	а	76.7		
13	C	0.057	b	0.149			cb	24.0	cb	32.2		
20	· a	0.672	а	0.577			b	35.6	b	45.6		
27	cb	0.099	b	0.173			C	19.4	cb	31.1		
34	cb	0.286	b	0.117			C	17.8	C	22.2		
kbg	ь	0.052	b	0.114			b	16.7	Ь	31.3		
cbg	b	0.134	Ь	0.165			а	40.0	а	54.7		
tf	а	0.687	а	0.646			а	32.7	b	38.7		

Table 4.16Statistical Analyses of Seedling Study (by average of species), Experiment 4

Means with the same letter are significantly different Duncan's Multiple test for variables, alpha=0.05, SAS w=weeks

Different effects were observed each week. At week 1, 20 and 34 day old compost were not significantly different from controls which average 13 %. Compost age 13 days old was significantly more harmful than the rest of the treatments in both weeks 1 and 2 by averaging 0 and 11% respectively. At weeks 3 and 4, compost age 20 days old and controls were not significantly different from each other, averaging 78%. The rest of the compost treatments were significantly lower.

At week 2, growth in controls was significantly lower than in 20 day old compost. For the same week, 13 day old compost continued to be significantly more harmful than the rest of the treatments. At week 3, all compost treatments were significantly lower than controls, except for 20 days old compost, which was not significantly different from the controls.

Ground cover percentage in all compost treatments during the observation period, was significantly lower than controls which averaged 52 and 77% at weeks 2 and 3 respectively. At week 2, compost 27 and 34 days old was not significantly different from each other (19 and 18% respectively), but significantly lower than 20 day old compost which averaged 36%. At week 3, ground cover percentage in compost age 34 days old, was significantly lower than 20 day old compost, but not significantly different from compost ages 13, and 27 days old.

With respect to species sensitivity, **kbg** continued to be significantly more sensitive than the other two species for all parameters considered, except growth. **Kbg** was not significantly different to crbg in growth. **Tf** and **cbg** were not significant different in terms of germination delay, germination percentage, and ground cover percentage. **Tf** performed significantly better than **cbg** in terms of growth.

b) By each species

The effects of the different compost ages to each turfgrass species are presented in **Table 4.17**.

For kbg, days to first germination for controls and for all compost treatments were not significantly different between each other ranging from 10 to 14 days. Germination percentage at weeks 1 and 2 were not significantly different for controls and for all compost treatments. At week 3, some differences between compost treatments and

	Days to first germination							% Germination						
Compost age	kbg	-	cbg		ťf			kbg						
(days)	-							w1		w2		w3		
Control	·a	10	Ь	5.6	b	6.3		ab	9.2	а	25.7	а	9.4	
13	a	14	a	13.3	ab	8		ab	18.3	a	13.6	bc	18.3	
20	а	12	ab	8.6	b	7		a	4.2	a	37	Þ	47.3	
27	3	14	b	7.3	8	11.3		b	3.7	а	15.4	С	15.8	
	а	9.3	b	5.3	b	6		ab	9.9	<u>a</u>	14.3	bc	24.9	
	% Germ	ination												
Compost age	cbg							tf						
(days)	_w1		w2		w3			w1		w2		w3		
Control	a	29.8	а	63.9	a	77.6		ab	50.9	ab	73.6	а	93.1	
13	b	4.3	b	2	b	37.3		b	26.5	b	31.4	ab	58.8	
20	а	46.7	ab	42.3	а	96.1		а	76.6	а	81.4	а	96.1	
27	а	38	ab	35.3	b	39		Ь	28.4	b	24.5	b	37.2	
34	b	9.9	Ь	29.8	b	36.1		b	20.6	b	23.4	ab	58.8	
	Cilpping	s weight	t (g)											
Compost age	Kba				cbg					tf				
(days)	w1		w2		w1		w2			w1		w2		
Control	3	0.074	а	0.153	b	0.116	a	0.316		ab	0.832	a	1.099	
13	а	0.007	а	0.064	b	0.02	b	0.025		b	0.144	b	0.383	
20	а	0.129	а	0.211	a	0.399	а	0.297		a	1.498	а	1.135	
27	а	0.012	а	0.064	b	0.079	b	0.095		b	0.207	b	0.361	
34	а	0.037	а	0.076	b	0.066	b	0.09		ab	0.757	b	0.185	
	% Grou	nd cover												
Compost age	kbg				cbg					tf				
(days)	w1		w2		wt		w2			wt		w2		
Control	a	36.7	а	70	a	60	a	86.7		а	60	а	73.3	
13	ab	18.3	b	25	b	21.7	bc	36.7		ab	32	Ь	35	
20	ab	15	b	28.3	а	56.7	ab	66.7		ab	35	ab	41.7	
27	Ь	5	b	16.7	ab	40	abc	56.7		b	13.3	Ь	20	
34	b	8.33	b	16.7	b	21.7	C	26.7		Þ	23.3	Þ	23.3	

Table 4.17	
Statistical Analyses of Seedling Study (by species), Experiment	4

Means with same letter are not significantly different

Duncan's Multiple test for variable, alpha=0.05, SAS

w=weeks

controls were observed. Controls averaged 93% of germination percentage, significantly more than the rest of the compost. Compost age 20 days old with a 47% germination, was significantly lower than the controls, but significantly higher than compost 27 days old which average 16%.

Percentage ground cover at week 1 averaged 37% in controls, significantly higher than 27 and 34 day old compost but not significantly different from 13 and 20 days old compost. There was no significant difference among compost treatments in both weeks 1 and 3. Ground cover percentage in controls at week 3, averaged 70%.

Growth at week 1 was not significantly different between controls and the rest of compost treatments. However at week 2, compost 20 days old was significantly more harmful than 27 day old compost and the control, which were not significantly different from each other. Days to first germination in **cbg** controls averaged 6 days and was not significantly different from 20, 27 and 34 day old compost but significantly faster than 13 day old compost which averaged 13 days.

Germination percentage in controls at week 1, was 30%. Compost age 20 and 27 days old were not significantly different from controls, but significantly higher than 13 and 34 day old compost. At week 2, only 13 and 34 day old compost were significantly lower than the controls, but not significant different from the rest of the treatments. At week 3, controls averaged 78% of germination, not significantly different from 20 day old compost (96%), but significantly higher than the rest of the treatments.

Ground cover percentage in controls reached 60 and 87% in weeks 1 and 2 respectively. At week 1, 20 and 27 day old compost, were significantly lower than the controls but not significantly different from each other (22%). At week 3, 34 day old compost was significantly more harmful (27%) and significantly different than the controls and to 20 day old compost but was not from the rest of the treatments.

Growth in compost age 20 days old was significantly better than in controls and the rest of the treatments which did not differ significantly from each other. At week 3, 20 day old compost and controls were not significantly different from each other, but were higher than the rest of the treatments.

Days to first germination in **tf** controls average 6 days, and were statistically similar to 20 and 34 day old compost. Germination delay in 27 day old compost was 11 days; significantly higher than controls but not different from 13 day old compost.

At weeks 1 and 2, germination percentage in controls averaged 51 and 73%, respectively. No significant difference with the rest of the compost treatments was observed. Compost age 20 days old was not significantly different from controls during the entire observation period, but at week 1 was significantly higher than 13, 27 and 34 day old compost.

Ground cover percentage in controls was 60% at week 1, and was not significantly different from 13 and 20 day old compost observations. Percentage ground cover in compost age 27 and 34 days old was significantly lower than controls, but not different from the rest of the treatments. At week 2, 20 day old compost resulted in 41%, and controls (73 %). These tests were not significantly different from each other.

Growth in controls at week 1, was not significantly different from the rest of the compost treatments. Compost age 20 days old was significantly different from 13 and 27 day old compost, but not significantly different from 34 day old compost. At week 2, all compost ages except compost age 20 days old, were significantly less than the controls.

The analyses to determine the correlation between stability parameters and phytotoxic effects is presented and discussed in chapter 5.

5. Discussion

This chapter includes a general discussion of the results obtained from the four experiments performed. As was shown in Chapter 4, experiments 1, 2, and 3 are limited in terms of discussion, since samples were not representative of the process. For this reason, only a detailed discussion of the results of experiment 4 is presented.

5.1 Sampling Methodology

Regarding sampling methodology used during experiments 1 and 2, some observations can be made. Although sampling at different points along the bay provided samples of different ages, they may not be representative of the process. The fact that the properties of the sludge added each day to the bay, was not the same, affected the reliability of the sampling. In regard to these results, sampling methodology used was not appropriate to obtain representative samples of the entire composting process. Therefore, in order to obtain representative samples of this process, it may be necessary to increase the number of sampling sites if the sampling is to be done in one day. That would imply taking different subsamples in the area corresponding to each age, and then making a composite sample. Another approach would be to follow one sludge batch during the

entire composting process. That would mean taking samples periodically from the same sludge mix, which moves every day along the bay- during the approximate 20 days of the process. However, disturbance of the system may be a problem with this approach, since there will be a continuos reduction in volume. Also, some back mixing will occur.

۶.,

With respect to the sampling methodology in the ASP system, sampling methodology followed during experiment 3, failed to obtain representative samples of the process. Sampling methodology used during experiment 4 allowed representative samples to be obtained since the area sampled was bigger and a composite sample was made.

5.2 Stability Parameters

5.2.1 Experiments 1, 2, and 3

As already mentioned, samples from experiments 1, 2, and 3, were not representative of the process, as was reflected in stability parameter determinations. None of the parameters were significantly correlated with composting time at a significance level lower or equal to five percent.

Although no significant correlation was established, some parameters corresponded relatively well to the expected trends. Percentage of total solids, TOC and ammonia contents for experiment 1 and 2, and oxygen uptake for experiment 2 showed a relative decreasing trend. As noted previously, changes in percentage of total solids may have been observed due to process control problems, and do not necessarily reflect good progress of the composting process itself. With respect to TOC and ammonia levels in water extracts, it is possible that changes in these parameters over composting time are easier to observe than changes in other parameters, even when sampling problems may exist, since they are in the liquid extract.

It was also observed that some parameters, although not corresponding with composting time, were useful to monitor the process. For instance, differences in composting systems as well as improper process control were reflected in some of the stability parameters. For experiments 1 and 2, high percentages of total solids denoted

problems in moisture management. Dry conditions during the process were also indirectly reflected in others parameters. Low moisture conditions, affected microbial activity as pathogen densities and regrowth potential results indicated.

1.1

For experiments 3 and 4, changes in total solids percentage were related to rewetting of the process by water vapor condensation. Water condensation reflected problems in aeration during the process.

Differences between both systems were clearly reflected in other parameters. Problems in moisture management, characteristic of high rate systems, was reflected in other parameters such as regrowth potential. While regrowth potential in ASP during experiment 3 was not observed, samples from in-vessel systems (experiments 1 and 2), presented considerable regrowth. Although pathogen regrowth may be an indicator of available substrate, it can also be indicative of competitiveness. In this regard, regrowth results from experiments 1 and 2, indicate that dry conditions during the composting process may have affected microbial activity. If microbial activity was suppressed, substrate degradation was not complete and therefore available substrate may be present. On the other hand, low moisture levels may have affected the microbial diversity, which seems to play an important role in regrowth potential_(14,25).

Considering final compost characteristics from these three experiments, it can be seen that except for a few exceptions, these composts can not be considered stable. For experiments 1 and 2, pathogen densities may indicate stability, however regrowth potential may be of concern. Oxygen uptake rate in the three cases, was higher than that suggested for both field applications and growth medium using Wilson and Dalmat's criteria₍₅₂₎. C/N in water extract for final compost in experiment 3, may indicate stability using Chanyasack *et al.*'s ₍₅₎ parameter, however this does not correspond with the rest of the parameters.

5.2.2 Experiment 4

As previously shown in Chapter 4, stability analyses of compost samples during experiment 4, showed consistency with the expected trends. Table 5.1 shows the Pearson's correlation coefficients between stability parameters and compost age.

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	C age	TS	VS	Охир	TotC	FeC	C/N we	Am-we	TOC-we	
C age	1									
TS	.9912***	1								
VS	.9765***	9926***	1							
Oxup	.9748**	9748***	9883***	1						
TotC	.3265	.3650	.3914	5206	1					
FeC	.8118*	7791	.6997	.6732	2668	1				
C/N we	4113	4071	.4946	.5283	4893	0853	1			
Am-we	8600*	8964*	.8676*	.8938 [*] **	5404	.8355*	.1386	1		
TOC-we	8957**	.9423**	.9585**	.9862***	5662	.6358	.4664	.9206**	1	

Table 5.1Pearson's Correlation Coefficients between Stability Parameters, Experiment 4

+ Pearson's correlation coefficient; * p<0.1, ** p<0.05, ***p<0.01

C age=compost age; TS=total solids, VS=volatile solids; Oxup=oxygen uptake rate; TotC= total coliforms; FeC=fecal coliforms; C/N we= C/Nratio in water extract; Am-we= ammonia content in water extract; TOC-we= total organic carbon in water extract.

In this experiment, almost all parameters changed as expected during the composting process. As a result, high correlations between composting time and most of the stability parameters were found.

Based on the trend followed over composting time by some such as total solids, volatile solids, oxygen uptake rate and fecal coliforms density, a linear regression analysis was performed (Figures 5.1 and 5.2). Although a linear regression does not fit either the total organic carbon and ammonia content in water extract trends, it is clear they both follow a decreasing trend over the time.

C/N ratio in water extract did not correlate well with either composting time and stability parameters. Chanyasack *et al.* (5) noted that for compost mixes with initial low C/N, such as sludge compost, changes of this parameter during composting process may not be a good indicator of stability. Instead, these researchers proposed that final C/N in water extract in the range of 5-6, may be a good indicator of stability only for final sludge compost. In this regard, C/N ratios in final compost during this experiment showed values under 5, which imply stability.

There are several publications indicating C/N in water extract is significantly correlated with composting time (Chen and Inbar₍₆₎,Garcia *et al.*₍₁₇₎, Grebus *et al.*₍₂₃₎). However, it is important to notice that in most of these works, C/N ratios were determined during periods between 100 and 200 days where a negative significant correlation was observed. However, some studies have reported C/N ratio trends during the active composting stage (first 30 days). Therefore, correlation between C/N ratio and composting time may be related to the composting phase under consideration as well as the organic waste. Since the results correspond only to the active composting stage, it may be possible that the correlation with time was not observed because of the relative short increment determination. It is interesting to notice that similar C/N in water extract trends during the active composting stage, are reported by Grebus *et al.*₍₂₃₎ for sludge compost, however no explanation for such was found.

On the basis of C/N in water extract, total solids and volatile solids percentages, and pathogen densities, final compost from experiment 4, can be considered stable.



Figure 5.1 Linear Regression between Stability Parameters and Composting Time, Experiment 4

A) Total solids percentage (R=0.991), B) Volatile solids percentage (R=0.977),

- C) C/N ratio in water extract (R=0.413), D) Oxygen uptake rate (R=0.975),
- E) Total organic carbon content in water extract (R=0.896),
- F) Ammonia content in water extract (R=0.859).

Dashed lines correspond to CI=95%



Figure 5.2 Linear Regression between Pathogen Indicators and Composting Time, Experiment 4

A) Total coliforms density (R= 0.21), B) Fecal coliforms density (R=0.951) Dashed lines correspond to CI=95%

Oxygen uptake rate, however, indicates that 34 days was not enough to achieve stabilization. Total solids and volatile solids percentage are not usually considered reliable parameters to determine stability by themselves.

Overall total solids percentages and temperature determinations, followed the normal progress of composting. However, some measurements indicated deficient aeration during the process. Differences in temperature and visual characteristics determined among the subsamples, demonstrated examples of heterogeneity through the pile. Improper aeration allows water condensation which falls into some parts of the pile. High temperatures and odor production were observed in some points of the pile even at 34 days, indicating high microbial activity. This may imply that, because of the high moisture levels, and lack of sufficient free air space, oxygen diffusion was suppressed at these sites, resulting in anaerobic conditions. On the other hand, even after 34 days of composting the observation of sites with high temperature and odors indicates that there was still available substrate, and therefore stabilization was not yet accomplished.

Extreme heterogeneity throughout the pile may indicate improper process control, or improper initial mixing, which will affect the quality of the product. Zuconni *et al.*(55), noted that stabilization is more rapid under good aeration, which implies that anaerobic stabilization of sludge may increase phytotoxicity of compost. Therefore phytotoxicity may be reduced if a proper process control and good initial mixing is achieved.

With respect to the analytical techniques it was observed that, respirometry technique using the computerized system, may provide useful information in addition to oxygen uptake rate. Factors such as delay in oxygen consumption, and oxygen uptake rate trends during the process, may be useful to follow different stages of the composting process. It may be interesting to examine other possible uses for these types of determinations.

5.3 Phytotoxicity Studies

5.3.1 Seedling study

Overall, results from seedling studies for experiments 1, 2, and 3, can not be considered valid due to sample heterogeneity but they were sensitive enough to demonstrate differences in sensitivity among the species.

Results of the seedling studies for the four experiments showed sludge compost of all ages of the active phase had phytotoxic effects on turfgrass seeds when used alone as a potting material. These findings agree with several reports of phytotoxicity of unstable compost on different seed species(15,21,54,55).

Differences in sensitivity among the three species tested were observed during all four experiments. These findings agree with the reports made by Zucconi *et al.*⁽⁵⁵⁾ in relation to differences in sensitivity to phytotoxic effects. Overall, tall fescue was less sensitive to compost effects, followed by creeping bentgrass. Kentucky bluegrass was the most sensitive during the four plant assay experiments. Different phytotoxic effects on plant species were to some extent expected⁽⁵⁵⁾.

Plant assays also showed that compost phytotoxic effects (by various parameters) were not expressed to the same degree. For instance, germination percentage in **tf** was not affected by compost, but ground cover percentage was. **Kbg** percentage of germination was severely affected by compost but a minor effect was observed in growth. These differences may be related to the intrinsic differences among these species and it may help to improve or modify plant assays methods.

The difficulty in determining significant differences among the various compost ages and their phytotoxic effects on seeds, may be related to the plant assay method. Seedling studies using compost as the only growth media may not be adequate to establish phytotoxicity. Lopez Real *et al.*(35) have mentioned some of the problems with compost even when it is completely mature with respect to other growth media such as peat, when it is used alone. They recommended the use of compost for pot medium in mixtures with peat. Other works by Inbar *et al.*(32) and Devitt *et al.*(8) report the use of compost mixtures

to determine phytotoxic effects on seeds. In addition, Zucconi *et al.*⁽⁵⁵⁾ and Grebus *et al.*⁽²³⁾ have reported that phytotoxic effects of compost on water cress seeds are reduced when seeds are exposed to a dilution of the compost extract. Lopez-Real *et al.*⁽³⁵⁾ also reported that conductivity of stable sludge compost is high enough to cause damage to most plants (more than 1 mmho). They found that if compost was leached, plants did not suffer from water stress. Therefore, it is possible that, if some compost dilution or compost mixes were used, it would be possible to detect some differences in phytotoxic effects with respect to the different compost ages.

On the other hand, Grebus *et al.*⁽²³⁾ reported that a radish assay was a good parameter to establish stabilization on composted yard trimmings. They found that while the radish assay correlated with composting time, other plant assays such as watercress seeds, could not be used as a stability parameter. Watercress seed studies did not correlate with composting time.

5.3.2 Established turfgrass study

As presented in chapter 4, there were no phytotoxic effects on established turfgrass when sludge compost was applied. These results confirmed similar results reported by Schumann *et al.*⁽⁴²⁾, of no phytotoxic effects on established turfgrass when compost was applied at a rate of 200 lb/1000 ft². In addition, established turfgrass results showed that even at a higher application rate of 500 lb/1000ft², there is no phytotoxic effect. In fact, there was a fertilizer effect in some cases.

The fact that earlier growth stages of turfgrass were more sensitive to compost phytotoxic effects than later stages confirmed what Zucconi *et al.*⁽⁵⁵⁾ have reported: "Sensitivity to toxins may be overcome by plant adaptation. When the first contact of roots with the organic matter is not lethal, plant show some capability to adjust to, and in some cases to thrive on, organic matter enrichment substrates". Zucconi *et al.*⁽⁵⁵⁾ also mentioned that phytotoxicity is a function of several factors which are expressed in the following formula:

phytotoxicity =
$$\underline{f(\Delta M S)}$$

tΔ

were Δ is amount of environmental change, M is plant metabolic rate, S is specific sensitivity (ages, species, etc.), and t Δ , the time lapse in which the change is made.

Using this formula, one may explain why seeds suffered toxic effects in comparison with positive effects observed on established turfgrass. Factors such as the differences in sensitivity because of age, or growth conditions (laboratory conditions versus field conditions), seem to have influenced phytotoxicity effects. Therefore according to characteristics of the plant study there may be different phytotoxic responses with the same compost.

According to the stability parameters, compost from this experiment would be considered immature or unstable. However, no phytotoxic effects on established turfgrass were observed. This demonstrates that some parameters may not be appropriate to predict the effects of any particular compost on established turfgrass. This supports the need of establishing the stability level for a particular compost, required for specific species at a defined growth stage. This may have many implications since compost that may is considered low quality for some plant species, can be considered as good quality for others, as is the case for established turfgrass.

5.4 Correlation between Stability Parameters and Phytotoxicity

No correlation was found between stability parameters and phytotoxicity in any of the four experiments. In terms of the three first experiments this may be expected since samples were not representative and no correlation between time and stability parameters was observed.

Experiment 4 was the only one in which representative samples were obtained. However, as plant assays results showed, no correlation between the severity of the effects and composting time was found for this experiment. As is the case of stability parameters, there are several reports in which a correlation between phytotoxic effect of compost and composting time can be made when composting periods are longer than 30 days. Zucconi

et al.⁽⁵⁵⁾ for instance, showed the effect of compost on cress seeds germination index over a period of 200 days. However, data for the first 30 days of the process show no correlation. On the other hand, Grebus *et al.*⁽²³⁾ reported that results of water cress assays did not correlate with composting time even considering a period of 200 days.

As was done for experiments 1, 2, and 3, some relationships between the severity of the effects on seeds and changes in the stability parameters were observed. Based on plant assay results it was observed that tall fescue displayed different effects to compost treatments as compared with the controls. Delay in germination was not affected by the different compost ages. In fact, the 27 day age average was better than the control. Stability parameters indicated lowest levels of TOC and NH₃ (0.29% and 0.04%) respectively) in compost of 27 days age. Germination percentage results, showed that ground cover percentage was not significantly different. 20 day old compost was not significantly different from controls in several observations including: percentage germination during weeks 2, 3, and 4, and percentage ground cover during weeks 2 and 3. In the rest of the observations, the same compost age was significantly different from controls, but its effects were significantly less than the rest of the treatments. However, these differences with respect to the rest of the compost ages were not reflected in any of the stability parameters except for C/N in water extract, which for compost age 20 days old, showed the highest ratio. In general, no difference between the rawest compost and the most mature were observed in any plant assay.

5.5 Summary of Discussion

Sampling methodology is very important in order to obtain representative samples of the composting process for both systems (in-vessel systems and ASP). A detailed design of the sampling methodology used for each system must be made that assures the minimum error and gives representative samples.

- The use of more than one traditional stability parameters is necessary to get a better characterization of compost. In addition, information provided by these parameters is very useful for control and progress characterization of the composting process. It is recomended that not only absolute values of these parameters be considered, but also trends which occur during the composting process. The following parameters are suggested as appropriate to characterize compost stabilization: total solids, volatile solids, density and regrowth potential of pathogen indicators, ammonia and TOC in water extract, and oxygen uptake rate.
- Determination of some traditional stability parameters and turfgrass seedling studies showed that final compost, from both the in-vessel and the ASP systems studied, can not be considered stable. Therefore, a further curing period may be necessary in order to achieve stabilization for use on turfgrass seeds. The extent of the period must be determined for each system, based on final compost use and the corresponding stability analyses.
- Turfgrass seedling studies showed that sludge compost produced phytotoxic effects on turfgrass seeds. There was no correlation between severity of phytotoxic effects and compost age. Among the three turfgrass species, tall fescue seeds were significantly less sensitive to the toxic effects of compost, following by creeping bentgrass. Kentucky bluegrass seeds were significantly more affected by compost phytotoxicity.
- The modification of seedling studies in order to be able to observe differences in compost effects by different compost ages (at least during the active phase of composting) is suggested. The use of compost mixtures instead of compost alone or the leaching of compost with water before use, are two of the processing options.
- The established turfgrass study demonstrated that compost from an in-vessel system did not cause phytotoxic effects on established turfgrass (kentucky bluegrass). In fact, compost application enhanced established turfgrass quality, reflected as growth, color

and shoot density. Compost age did not seem to be a significant factor, since there were no phytotoxic effects caused by compost as young as 10 days old. The rate of application was also not a limiting factor since established turfgrass resisted a high rate of application (up to 500 lb./1000ft²). None of the traditional stability parameters determined were able to predict compost effects on established turfgrass. These results as well as earlier studies of Schumann *et al.*(42), indicate that in-vessel sludge compost, without a further curing period, will not cause phytotoxic effects on this particular plant system. A curing period after the acitive phase may still be in order to comply with regulatory requirements for odor and pathogens reduction.

• Further studies are suggested in this direction in order to determine the stability level required to comply with both regulatory requirements as well as turfgrass needs.

6. Conclusions

Based on the results of this study, the following conclusions may made:

- I. The use of a battery of traditional stability parameters is necessary for a complete characterization of sludge compost. Final values and trends of different stability parameters are also useful to control and characterize the progress of the composting process.
- II. Overall, traditional stability parameters were not correlated to the phytotoxic effects of sludge compost on turfgrass. In contrast, sludge compost phytotoxicity seemed to be related to inherent turfgrass factors such as species, stage of development, and/or growth conditions (laboratory conditions versus field conditions):
 - A. Early stage of development such as seeds, were more sensitve to phytotoxic effects than further stages of development such as established turfgrass. Compost phytotoxic effects on turfgrass seeds were expressed as a delay in germination, a decrease in germination percentage, a diminishing

on ground cover percentage and a decrease on growth yield. Among turfgrass seeds, tall fescue was the most resistant to toxic effects of sludge compost, followed by creeping bent grass. Kentucky blue grass resulted to be the most sensitive.

- B. In contrast, established turgrass responded positively to the application of in-vessel sludge compost. An enhanced established turfgrass quality, reflected as growth, color and shoot density was observed. There was no correlation between compost age and severity of phytotoxic effects. Neither compost age or traditional stability parameters were related to effects on turfgrass.
- III. The fact that sludge compost (from the active phase) is not phytotoxic to established turfgrass, may represent an important reduction in terms of composting time. Since the turfgrass industry represents one of the most important markets for sludge compost, a reduction in the length of the curing period may represent considerable advantages. However, in order to comply with health and safety requirements for sluge compost, as some of the traditional parameters indicated, it is necessary to improve process control in order to achieve some regulatory requirements for high quality compost in terms of health and safety. There is a need for studies to determine the minimum period of the composting process in order to achieve all quality requirements for a specific use.

7. Bibliography

- 1. APHA, AWWA, and WPCF., Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater, 18th Edition (1992).
- Bacon G.D. and Switzenbaum M.S., Variation of Heavy Metals Concentrations in Municipal Sludge and Sludge Compost. *Technical Report*, Dept. of Civil and Env. Eng, UMass - Amherst (1989).
- Briton W.F. and Droffner M.W., Microbial Approaches to Characterization of Composting Processes. Compost Science & Utilization, 2(3), 12-17 (1994).
- 4. Cadena F. et al., A Novel Approach to Simplified Respirometric Oxygen Demand Determinations. Presented at the 43rd Purdue Industrial Waste Conference, Purdue University, West Lafayette, Indiana (1988).
- Chanyassak V. and Kubota H., Carbon/Organic Nitrogen Ratio in Water Extract as Measure of Composting Degradation. J. Ferment. Technol., 59(3), 215-219 (1981).
- 6. Chen Y. and Ibar Y., Chemical and Spectroscophical Analyses of Organic Matter Transformation During Composting in Relation to Compost Maturity. In: Hoitink H.A. and Keener H.M. (Editors), Science and Engineering of Composting. Upper Acces Books, Hinesburg, VT, 551-599 (1993).

- Ciavatta C., Govi M., and Sequi P., Characterization of Organic Matter in Compost Produced With Municipal Solid Wastes: An Italian Approach. Compost Science & Utilization, 1(1), 75-81(1993).
- Devitt D.A., Morris R.Ll., and Bowman D.C., Response of Tall Fescue to Composted Sewage Sludge Used as a Soil Amendment. *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, 13(9), 1115-1139 (1990).
- 9. Donnovan J.F., and Toffey W.E., Impact of Industrial Pretreatment Programs on Biosolids Quality in Boston and Philadelphia. A presentation to the Civil and Environmental Engineering Graduate Programs at the University of Massachusetts. Amherst, Massachusetts, (1994).
- 10. Donnovan J.F., Part 503 Permitting for POTWs. Presented at the N.E.WEA Annual Conference, Boston, MA, (1994).
- 11. Donnovan J.F., Developments in Wastewater Sludge Management Practices in the 'United States. Paper presented in New Developments in Wastewater Policy, Management and Technology Conference, Sydney, Australia (1992).
- 12. Dunn R., Massachusetts Sludge Composting Facilities Status as of 8/94. Personal memorandum, DEP Massachusetts, (1994).
- 13. Edberg S.C., Allen M.J., Smith D.B., and the National Collaborative., National Field Evaluation of a Defined Substrate Method for the Simultaneous Enumeration of Total Coliforms and *Escherichia coli* from Drinking Water: comparison with the standard multiple tube fermentation method. *Appl. Enron. Microbiol.* 54, 1595-1601 (1988).
- Farrel J.B., Fecal Pathogen Control During Composting. In: Hoitink H.A.. and Keener H.M. (Editors), Science and Engineering of Composting. Upper Acces Books, Hinesburg, VT, 283-300 (1993).

- 15. Finstein M.S., and Hogan J.A., Integration of Composting Process microbiology, Facility structure and Decision-making. In: Hoitink H.A., and Keener H.M. (Editors), Science and Engineering of Composting. Upper Acces Books, Hinesburg, VT, 1-23 (1993).
- 16. Finstein M.S., Miller F.C., Strom P.F., Monitoring and Evaluation Composting Process Performance. *Journal WPCF*, **58**, 272-278 (1986).
- 17. Garcia C., Hernandez T., and Costa F., Study on Water Extract of Sewage Sludge Compost. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr., 37(3), 399-408 (1991).
- 18. Glenn J., The Biocycle Year in Review. *Biocycle*, **33**(12), 30-33 (1992).
- Godden B. and Penninckx M.S., On the Use of Biological and Chemical Indexes for Determining Agricultural Compost Maturity: Extension to field scale. *Agricultural Wastes*, 15, 169-178 (1986).
- Golstein N., Riggle D. and Steuteville R., Biosolids Composting Strengthens its Base. Biocycle, 35(12), 48-57 (1994).
- Golstein N., and Steuteville R., Biosolids Composting Makes Healthy Progress. Biocycle, 34(12), 48-57 (1993).
- 22. Golueke C.G., Undestanding the Process. In: The Biocycle Guide to the Art and Science of Composting, Press J.G. (Ed.), Emmaus, PA (1991).
- 23. Grebus M.E., Watson M.E., and Hoitink H.A.J., Biological, Chemical and Physical Properties of Composted Yard Trimmings as Indicators of Maturity and Plant Diseases Suppression. *Compost Science and Utilization*, 2(1), 57-71 (1994).
- 24. Hartenstein R., Sludge Decomposition and Stabilization. *Science*, **212**(4496), 743-748 (1981).
- 25. Haug R.T, The Practical Handbook of Compost Engineering, Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, Florida (1993).

- 26. Haug R.T. and Ellsworth W.F., Measuring Compost Substrate Degradability. Evaluation of Compost maturity. In: *The Biocycle Guide to the Art and Science of Composting*. J.G. Press. 188-194 (1991).
- 27. Hatch, Water Analysis Handbook. Hatch Company, Loveland CO, (1992).
- 28. Henry C. L Editor, Technical Information on the Use of Organic materials as Soil Amendments: Literature Review. Solid Waste Composting Council (1991).
- 29. Hirai M.F., Chanyasak V. and Kubota H., A Standard Measurement for Compost Maturity. *Biocycle*, 24(6), 54-46 (1983).
- Hoitink H.A.J and A.F. Schmitthenner., Effects of Composted Municipal Sludge on Soilborne plant plathogens. EPA Report, EPA/600/2-88/024. Cincinnati, April (1988).
- Iannotti Frost D., Toth B.L, and Hoitink H.A., Compost Stability. *Biocycle*, 33(11), 62-66 (1992).
- 32. Inbar Y., Chen Y., Hadar Y., and Hoitink H.A.J., New Approaches to Compost Maturity. *Biocycle*, **31**(12), 64-69 (1990).
- 33. Lang M.E., Water Environment Federation's biosolids public acceptance campaign. Dufresne-Henry, Inc. North Springfield, Vermont, (1994).
- 34. Lang M.E., and Jager R.A., Compost Marketing in New England. Dufresne-Henry, Inc. North Springfield, Vermont, (1994).
- Lopez-Real J.M., Witter E., Midner F.N. and Hewett B.A., Evaluation of Composted Sewage Sludge/Straw Mixture for Horticultural Utilization. Wat.Sci.Tech, 21, 889-897 (1989).
- 36. Magliette R.J., McKinney D. and Venkatarami E.S., A Computerized Respirometric Method for Determining Biodegradation Parameters of Organic Chemicals. N-Con Systems Co., Inc., Larchmont NY, (1991).

- 37. Metcalf and Eddy Inc. Wastewater Engineering: Treatment Disposal, and Reuse. 3rd Edition, McGraw-Hill, New York (1991).
- Miller F., Composting as a Process Based on the Control of Ecologically Selective Factors. In: Meeting, F. B. Editor., *Soil Microbial Ecology.* 18, 515-543 (1992).
- 39. Rynk R. Editor, On-Farm Composting Handbook. NRAES, Ithaca N.Y. (1992).
- 40. Roletto E., Barberis R., Consiglio M., and Jodice R., Chemical Parameters for Evaluating Compost Maturity. *Biocycle* 26(2), 46-47 (1985).
- 41. Sawyer and McCarty, *Chemistry for Environmental Engineering*. Mc Graw Hill, 3rd Edition, New York (1978).
- Schumann G.L., Soares H., Holden C.M., and Switzenbaum M.S., Relationship of Traditional Compost Stability to Turfgrass Quality. *Environmental Technology*, 14, 257-263 (1993).
- 43. Stentiford E.I., Diversity of Composting Systems. In: Hoitink H.A., and Keener H.M. (Editors), Science and Engineering of Composting. Upper Acces Books, Hinesburg, VT, 95-110 (1993).
- 44. Switzenbaum M.S., Composting. In: Handbook of Environmental Engineering, (In press).
- 45. Switzenbaum M.S., Holden C., Soares H., and Kuter G.A., Effect of Amendment on Nitrogen Conservation in Wastewater Biosolids Composting. *Compost Science* and Utilization, 2(2), 35-43 (1994).
- 46. Tester C.F., Sikora L.J., Taylor J.M., and Parr J.F., Nitrogen Utilization by Tall Fescue from Sewage Sludge Compost Amended Soils. *Agronomy Journal*, 54,1013-1018 (1982).

47. Turgeon A.J., Turfgrass Management, Reston, Va, Reston Pub.Co.(1985).

- 48. USEPA, Standards for the Use of Disposal of Sewage Sludge. 40CFR Part 503, 588 FR 9248, February 19 (1993).
- 49. Usui T., Shoji A., and Yusa M., Ripness Index of Wastewater Sludge Compost. Biocycle, 24(1), 25-27 (1993).
- 50. WEF and ASCE, Design of Municipal Wastewater Treatment Plants. Volume II. WEF Manual Practice No. 8, ASCE Manual and Report on Engineering Practice No. 76 (1992).
- 51. Williams R.T., Hazardous and Industrial Waste Composting. In: Hoitink H.A. and Keener H.M. (Editors), Science and Engineering of Composting. Upper Acces Books, Hinesburg, VT, 363-383 (1993).
- 52. Wilson G.B. and Dalmat D., Measuring Compost Stability. *Biocycle*, **27**(7), 34-37 (1986).
- 53.Witter E. and Lopez-Real J.M., The Potential of Sewage Sludge and Composting in a Nitrogen Recycling Strategy for Agriculture. *Biological Agriculture and Horticulture*, 5, 1-23 (1987).
- 54. Wong, M.H., and Chu l.M., Changes in Properties of a Fresh Refuse Compost in Relation to Root Growth of *Brassica chinensis*. Agricultural Wastes, 14, 115-125 (1985).
- 55. Zucconi F., Monaco A., and Forte M., Phytotoxins During the Stabilization of Organic Matter. In Composting of Agricultural and Other Wastes, Gesser J.K.R. (Editor), Elsever publishers, 73-86 (1985).
- Zucconi F., et al., Biological Evaluation of Compost Maturity. Biocycle, 22(7), 27-30 (1981).
- 57. Forging a Link Between Composting And Sustainable Agriculture. Compost Science and Utilization, 1(3), 40-42 (1993).